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Financial Highlights

BBEE

RMB’000 2023 2022
AR T —E-=f —ZT_-—
Revenue EHER 237,653 246,341
Cost of sales 5 & A AR (117,935) (153,822)
Gross profit EH 119,718 92,519
Selling & distribution costs HE Mo ERA (81,106) (83,507)
Administrative expenses TR 2 (27,602) (32,379)
Operating profit/(loss) KR (E18) 14,882 (17,333)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BeiFE (E8) 13,544 (19,431)
Income tax credit FrisfiE e 83 110
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KREIHEB AELZ

owners of the Company FRFE(EB) 13,627 (19,321)
Gross margin EFE 50.4% 37.6%
Net profit/(loss) ratio FRE(EE) X 5.7% (7.8%)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB cents) BERERN(FE) (ARBW)
Basic HAK 0.4309 (0.6110)
Diluted i1 0.4309 (0.6110)
Revenue by Product Category
WA REmBER 2

91.6% 85.7%
0% 0.0%

l 8.4%

14.3% ‘

2

Vs

v

Shampoo & hair-care products

REERER

HittRARBEAEEER

Other household & personal care products

Skincare products

EEEMm

Total
att

02
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Revenue by Branded Product Category

W R E SR AT

97.5%

Financial Highlights (Continued)
MREE(E)

96.5%

1.6%

1.9%

0.9%

1.6% |
2022

=
|

Bawang
#5I

Litao
BE

Royal Wind
BE

Others
Hith

Total
att
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

Dear shareholders of the Company,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of
BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited (the “Company”), |
present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Directors report that the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB237.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% from approximately
RMB246.3 million for 2022. The operating profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB14.9 million
as compared with an operating loss of approximately RMB17.3
million for 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net profit of the Group
was approximately RMB13.6 million, as compared with a net loss of
approximately RMB19.3 million for 2022.

For further information on the operating performance of the Group,
please refer to the “Financial Review” section of this annual report.

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

For further information on the outlook of the Group, please refer to
the “Outlook” section of this report.

During the year under review, the Group continued to operate under
the value-chain-oriented business model, which enabled the Group
to control the cost of sales and operating costs at a sustainable level.

In late January 2024, the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) revised
China’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth prediction for 2024
from previous estimate by 0.4 percent points from 4.2 percent to 4.6
percent because of the carryover from stronger-than-expected
growth in 2023 and the increase in government spending on capacity
building to respond to natural disasters, but the GDP growth could
drop to 3.0 percent range in 2024-25 without policy response on the
real estate sector.

The actual China’s year-on-year GDP growth was 5.2 percent in
2023. According to the IMF, the performance of Chinese economy in
2023 was slightly above expectations, and to sustain the China’s
economic momentum, decisively addressing the challenges, including
the stress in the property sector, and managing local government
debt is crucial. The IMF went on to say that some actions have
already been taken by the Chinese government in the property sector
and that China’s commitment to the green economy is evident in
notable decisions, particularly in sectors like electric vehicles.

The IMF projected in late January 2024 that the global economy
would grow 3.1 percent in 2024, unchanged from that in 2023, but
this is an improvement over the growth prediction of 2.9 percent
made in October 2023. Although the IMF raised the global growth
forecast, the IMF also said that there is still a need “to be mindful of
risks”, and that with conflicts still going on between Russia and
Ukraine, and Israel and Hamas, the complex geopolitical situation still
brings uncertainties to the global economic outlook.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
E%#&ﬂ:i (II\E)

In mid-danuary 2024, the National Bureau of Statistics (“NBS”)
indicated the retail sales of consumer goods increased by 7.2 percent
year-on-year in 2023, which is a major indicator of the China’s
consumption strength and the main driving force for economic
growth. The NBS went on to say that China’s consumption potential
is still huge because the steady advancement of urbanization and the
upgrading of consumption structure provide broad space for the
growth of consumption. The NBS expects that policy incentives will
be rolled out to stabilize and expand traditional consumption, cultivate
new consumption and improve the consumption environment.

Looking forward, we plan to focus on two areas to drive the strategic
directions to sustain and develop our business in the volatile
economic environment. In the short run, the Group intends to
continue building up a management team with strong experience in
both domestic and global HPC sectors, to regain the sales growth
momentum and profitability, and to improve investors’ confidence in
the Group. In the long run, the Group will continue to focus on
strengthening the business model and positioning to acquire market
shares from domestic and international competitors, maintaining a
multi-brand and multi-product strategy in HPC sectors, and
becoming a leader in the branded Chinese herbal HPC products.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our gratitude to all shareholders, customers, suppliers,
banks, professional parties, and employees of the Group for their
continuous patronage and support.

CHEN Qiyuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

Business Review

During the period under review, we advertised our Bawang branded
products inside the metro stations of Shenzhen and other 1st-tier
cities so as to enhance the publicity and exposure of our Bawang
branded products. We made use of our official Weibo (1) to initiate
blogs to follow up the discussions of popular topics and charities for
implanting publicity for Bawang branded products at the same time.

During the year under review, we continued to make use of popular
social media platforms to promote and cultivate customers’ interest
in our branded products through graphics + text and short video clips
at Douyin (£} &), Weibo, Xiaohongshu (/NATZ) and Bilibili (12 1E FENE),
Through in-store exciting and vivid counter-shows in our display
counters at various hypermarkets, onsite cosmetic course and
dissemination of shampooing and hair-care knowledge during the
various festivals of the year and the anniversary celebrations of the
malls, which attracted the participation of consumers, we enhanced
the interactions with consumers so as to arouse their interest to buy
our products and thereby increased the sales revenue of the
conventional channel.

BEEE WA DN

E 3 JEI)

KBOE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE® RN (&)

During the year under review, we conducted integrated marketing
through Xiaohongshu (/N4 2), Weibo, Wechat (##{Z) official account
right before we launched the Bawang Fragrant Bottle with a
discussion theme “Avoid hair-fall while staying up late, use Bawang
Fragrant Bottle” for extended dissemination. At the same time, we
cooperated with more than 50 well-known Blue-Verified bloggers of
Xiaohongshu (/NI Z) to relay onto their blogs the publicity materials
of Bawang fragrant shampoo bottles from our official Weibo and
embedded a hyperlink that would automatically be directed to our
flagship shop at T-Mall (X3#) so as to increase online sales revenue.

During the year under review, we continued to participate in
community welfare events so as to enhance our public image as a
responsible corporation. During the Women’s Day on the 8th of
March and in conjunction with the Guangzhou Qianjin Sub-district
Social Service Station, we made courtesy visits and donated
shampoos, shower gels and other household care products to the
needy women in the community. In collaboration with the Guangzhou
Community Social Service Station of Qianjin Sub-district, Tianhe
District, we carried out the charitable sales in the neighbourhood and
donated shampoos, shower gels and other household care products
to the impoverished families. In the Christmas time of 2023,
household and personal care (“HPC”) products including 300 bottles
of shampoo and 300 bottles of show gel were sold at cost to the
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals of Hong Kong for charitable distribution
to the underprivileged families. We believe that these types of social
activities help to publicise our corporate mission and enhance our
corporate image.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Bawang brand distribution network
comprised approximately 949 distributors and six KA retailers,
covering 27 provinces and four municipalities in China. Furthermore,
the Bawang-branded products were also sold in Hong Kong,
Singapore, Thailand, Malaysia, USA, and Mongolia.

During the year under review, the Group enhanced its product
formula and upgraded packaging to promote new Royal Wind
branded shampoo products primarily for the online sales channel. As
at 31 December 2023, the Royal Wind brand distribution network
comprised approximately 949 distributors and six KA retailers,
covering 27 provinces and four municipalities in China.

The Litao products mainly comprise shower gels and laundry
detergents, which target consumers living in the second-tier or third-
tier cities in China. The Group’s goal is to maintain market coverage
in the traditional channel. As at 31 December 2023, the Litao
products distribution network comprised approximately 905
distributors, covering 27 provinces and four municipalities in China.

The Group has established 11 online retailing platforms for our
Bawang, Royal Wind and Herborn branded products, of which two
were established during the year under review.

BEE W& (&)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE® RN (&)

FE'ZIk ERIEE

FERERAFN AT HEBERERN

ARRESEMFELELR

For the year under review, we obtained and/or renewed and/or
possessed the certificates and/or recognitions as follows:

the permit for production of cosmetic products, which was
issued by Guangdong Provincial Medical Products
Administration, which is valid until May 2027;

our Chinese herbal hair care series shampoo, Chinese anti-
dandruff series shampoo and Chinese herbal skin care series
body wash series products have been recognized as “The 2022
Elite High-Tech Products in Guangdong Province (20224 [Z &
REZESHEAMZER) by the Guangdong Provincial New Hi-
tech Enterprise Association (ERE SR EE) in
January 2023 and valid for a period of three years until January
2026;

our production process for hair-care and skin-care products
has been certified by SGS with a validity period until July 2025
as to meet the requirements of US FDA CFSAN by reference to
Cosmetic Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) Guidelines
2008;
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

— our production process for hair-care and skin-care products
has been certified by SGS with a validity period until July 2025
as to meet the requirements of ISO22716-2007 by reference to
Cosmetic Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) Guidelines
2007;

— we have been accredited as a “Committee Unit” by Guangdong
Provincial Food & Drug Technology Association for Evaluation &
Certification (B & B ohEME T RFRMHE), which is valid
until December 2023; and

— on 8 August 2023, we were accredited as Grade A credit rating
taxpayer for the year 2022 by Guangzhou Municipal Tax Service
of the State Taxation Administration (5% 55 7 42 /& B M T B 75
).

Key Risks and Uncertainties

Apart from those stated in the Chairman’s Statement, Management
Discussion and Analysis and Outlook sections, the Company is
exposed to the following key risks and uncertainties which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

1. Risks Relating to Our Industry

In recent years, it has been common for the Mainland
manufacturing enterprises to face continuously rising labour
costs and difficulties in employing skilled labour. Our Group’s
strategy in response is to reduce the production costs by
improving the degree of machine automation and efficiency.
Since the start of 2020, and up to the year ended 31 December
2022, almost all business enterprises in the China have been
suffering from the unprecedented coronavirus pandemic,
corresponding prevention and control measures by the
government have been implemented to contain the spread of
coronavirus. During this period, the Group strictly followed all
the regulatory measures laid down by the government and the
Group has made every effort to ameliorate any adverse impacts
on its operations and economic impacts on itself and its
customers. As always, the Group will cooperate with the
government on all mandatory control measures in respect of
public hygiene and health, if any.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEE W& (&)

2. Credit Risks Relating to Customers

Exposure to bad debts attributable to customers usually
intensifies following a weak economic performance. To minimize
credit risks, the management of the Group has appointed
dedicated staff members to handle procedures for determining
credit limits, credit approval and other monitoring procedures,
to ensure that follow-up actions with all receivables are taken in
a timely manner. In addition, the Group reviews the collectibility
of receivables at the end of a reporting period, to ensure that
sufficient impairment losses are recognised for uncollectible
debts. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
reversal of impairment losses of approximately RMB1.1 million
in respect of trade receivables by adopting the expected credit
loss model.

3. Liquidity Risks

In managing liquidity risks, the Group monitors and maintains
cash and cash equivalents at a level which is considered by the
management as sufficient, to satisfy the needs arising from the
Group’s operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations of
cash flow. The Group’s management will continue to closely
monitor the use of cash.

4. Currency Risks

Sales to overseas countries denominated in foreign currencies
expose the Group to foreign exchange risks. The Group closely
manages and monitors foreign exchange risks to ensure that
appropriate measures are taken in a timely manner. The Group
will consider using hedging in respect of foreign currencies to
mitigate relevant risks as and when appropriate.

Environmental Protection

The Group is responsible for its impact to the environment arising
from its business operations. During the year under review, the Group
strictly complied with the local environmental regulations of the PRC.
The production of household and personal care products belongs to
the light industry, thus no pollutants are involved during the
manufacturing process and adverse impact on the surrounding
environment is minimal. The Group has been investing and
implementing various energy conservation projects in recent years, as
a result of which overall power consumption has drastically reduced.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business Compliance

During the year under review, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group adopts an employee-oriented approach, which ensures that
all staff members are reasonably remunerated. To retain a quality
workforce, we strive to regularly improve, review and update our human
resources policy and our compensation and benefits. We also provide
training opportunities to upgrade the skills of our staff members. We
also care for the occupational health and safety of our workers.

The Group’s major customers are categorised into three channels,
namely conventional distributors, key account hypermarkets and
supermarkets, and online sales (including online official flagship stores
and distributors). The credit terms granted to major customers are 30
to 90 days, which are in line with those of the credit terms granted to
other customers.

The Group maintains good relationships with its customers. We have
put in place handling procedures to receive and analyse the
customers’ complaints and make recommendations on remedial
actions with a view to improving service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a
fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on an annual basis.

Financial Review

Revenue

During the year under review, the Group’s revenue was approximately
RMB237.7 million, representing a decrease of approximately 3.5%
from approximately RMB246.3 million for 2022. The revenue through
the online sales channel was approximately RMB126.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately 9.1% from approximately
RMB115.7 million in 2022 and the revenue through the conventional
sales channel decreased by approximately 14.7% as compared with
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The Group’s core brand, Bawang, generated approximately
RMB231.7 million in revenue, which accounted for approximately
97.5% of the Group’s total revenue by product category in 2023, and
represented a decrease of approximately 2.5% as compared with
2022.

The branded Chinese herbal anti-dandruff hair-care series, Royal
Wind, generated approximately RMB2.0 million in revenue, which
accounted for approximately 0.9% of the Group’s total revenue by
product category in 2023, and represented a decrease of approximately
48.4% as compared with 2022.

The natural-based branded shampoo, shower gel and laundry
detergent products series, Litao, generated approximately RMB3.9
million in revenue, which accounted for approximately 1.6% of the
Group’s total revenue by product category in 2023, and represented
a decrease of approximately 15.1% as compared with 2022.

We sold our products through extensive distribution and retail
networks, and via conventional and online sales channels. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, a summary of our sales revenue in
percentage terms through different networks and/or channels is as
follows:
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ZERLDT25% o
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AAE R IR B E R R KK KA B8 %k
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Network/Channel Conventional Online Total
Mk BB B4 £ &5t

(%) (%) (%)
Distributor > 8T 43.3 23.7 67.0
Retailer TER 3.6 29.4 33.0
Total &t 46.9 53.1 100.0

In 2023, the sales to Hong Kong and the overseas markets
accounted for approximately 1.0% of our total revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales in 2023 amounted to approximately RMB117.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 23.3% compared with
approximately RMB153.8 million in 2022. The overall decrease in
cost of sales was mainly due to a decrease in the prices of raw
materials and packaging materials, direct labor costs, and the
depreciation charges on the right of use assets and property, plant
and equipment, which led to an overall decrease in aggregate
manufacturing cost. Cost of sales was further reduced by a decrease
in sales volume which caused a corresponding drop in production
volume. As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales decreased from
approximately 62.4% in 2022 to approximately 49.6% in 2023.

Gross Profit

During the year under review, the Group’s gross profit increased to
approximately RMB119.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 29.4% as compared with approximately RMB92.5
million for 2022. The gross profit margin increased from approximately
37.6% for 2022 to approximately 50.4% for 2023. Such increase was
mainly attributable to a decrease in the average unit cost of
production as aforementioned.

Other Income

During the year under review, other income decreased to RMB2.9
million, representing a decrease of 18.5% as compared with 2022.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to a decrease in the bank
interest income and a decrease in the gain on sales of scrap
materials.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs decreased to approximately RMB81.1
million for 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 2.9% as
compared with approximately RMB83.5 million in 2022. Such
decrease was mainly due to a decrease in salaries and bonus and
redundancy costs, but such decrease was partially offset by an
increase in promotion expenses and goods delivery expenses. As a
percentage of revenue, our selling and distribution costs slightly
increased from approximately 33.9% in 2022 to 34.1% in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB27.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately 14.8% as
compared with approximately RMB32.4 million in 2022. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in research and
development expenses, salaries and bonus and redundancy costs,
which was partially offset by the increase in provision for bad debt
and vehicle expenses. As a percentage of revenue, our administration
expenses decreased from approximately 13.1% in 2022 to 11.6% in
20283.

Impairment Losses Reversed in respect of Trade
Receivables

For the year under review, the Group has reversed impairment losses
of approximately RMB1.1 million in respect of trade receivables,
following the management’s assessment on credit risk of our financial
assets by adopting the expected credit loss (the “ECL”) according to
IFRS 9.

Profit from Operations

The Group recorded an operating profit of approximately RMB14.9
million for 2023, as compared with an operating loss of approximately
RMB17.3 million for 2022. Such turnaround from loss to profit was
mainly because of the increase of gross profit and the decrease in
administrative expenses.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no interest on bank
borrowings was incurred (2022: Nil). Additionally, interest on lease
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB1.3 million (2022: RMB2.1
million).

Income Tax Credit

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had income
tax credit of RMB0.08 million (2022: RMBO0.1 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Profit for the Year

As a result of the combined effect of the above mentioned factors,
the Group recorded a net profit of approximately RMB13.6 million for
2023, as compared with a loss of approximately RMB19.3 million for
2022.

The net profit for the full financial year 2023 is within a similar range
with the estimated net profit in the region of RMB14.0 million for the
10 months ended 31 October 2023 as disclosed in the positive profit
alert announcement of the Company dated 17 November 2023. This
is because the Company incurred a higher average monthly selling
expenses in November and December of 2023 than those of the
previous 10 months following the recognition of end of year
promotion expenses payable to the distributors during the last two
months of 2023.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

As a result of the combined effect of the above factors, the Group
recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB13.6 million for 2023, as compared with a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB19.3
million for 2022.

Restatements of Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

The Group adopted the amendments to IAS 12 from 1 January 2023,
as a result of which restatements were required to our consolidated
statement of financial position. For further information about the
reasons for making such restatements, and the impact and effects of
the adoption of the amendments to IAS 12 on our financial
statements, please refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 82 to 86 of this report.

Outlook

In late January 2024, the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) revised
China’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth prediction for 2024
from previous estimate by 0.4 percent points from 4.2 percent to 4.6
percent because of the carryover from stronger-than-expected
growth in 2023 and the increase in government spending on capacity
building to respond to natural disasters, but the GDP growth could
drop to 3.0 percent range in 2024-25 without policy response on the
real estate sector.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In the National People’s Congress (“NPC”) of China in March 2024,
an ambitious GDP growth target of around 5.0 percent in 2024 has
been made, which is an upward revision of 0.8 percentage points
from the IMF’s forecast of 4.2 percent in October 2023 and also
higher than the Reuter’s poll forecast average of 4.6 percent in 2024.
The China’s Premier Li Qiang stressed that stability is of overall
importance, as it is the basis for everything. He went on to say that
making progress is the goal of our country, and that it is also what
motivates us. In particular, China must push ahead with transforming
the growth model, making structural adjustments, improving quality,
and enhancing performance.

According to an economist of a foreign bank, a target of around 5.0
percent growth in GPD is ambitious, but achievable, which entails
more aggressive easing policies and measures. As a result, it may
also improve the growth outlook among households and corporates.
The same analyst indicated that, however, meeting a similar growth
target in the coming year could be significantly tougher because the
nationwide restrictions of COVID-19 in 2022 were rampant, which
adversely affected the economy and set a low base for the year-on-
year comparison of 2022 and 2023.

Premier Li admitted that achieving the growth target will not be easy.
He continued to state that given the need to boost employment and
incomes and prevent and defuse risks, the government would “stabilize
and expand consumption, while targeting an increase in spending on
big-ticket items including electronics and new-energy vehicles.

Owing to the uncertainties and challenges against the overall
economic recovery as mentioned above, the Directors tend to be
very cautious about the Chinese economic environments and the
worldwide geopolitical situations in 2024 and hence are conservative
in formulating the strategies and operational plans for the Company.

The corporate theme for 2024 is “Dashing All the Way for Win-Win
Cooperation”

For Bawang-branded products, the Group intends to adopt the
following strategies for publicity and promotion of its branded
products and enhancement of revenue:

(1)  Through continuous cross-sector cooperations with enterprises
in other industries sharing the same vision with us, we plan to
roll out limited edition products and to carry out promotional
activities for enlarging our brand influence;
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Through our official blogs and social media platforms in Weibo,
Douyin, Kuaishou and Xiaohongshu, we will continue to initiate
interesting and educational blog topics to enhance interactions
with consumers and improve the awareness and reputation of
our brand, which can stimulate the interest of target customers
to purchase our products and accelerate the sales of our
branded products;

We will also cooperate with influential KOLs and engage them
to act as our brand ambassadors and to recommend our
branded products to the consumers. Through the effect of the
KOLs’ followers, the exposure of our branded products will be
enhanced so as to increase the purchase conversion rate;

Leveraging on our new Hi-tech equipment and various patents
and special permits of Bawang branded products, we will
promote our hot sales item of Bawang Anti-hair fall series;

We will roll out novel and attractive packaging, such as “Fragrant
Bottle” and “Rosefinch Bottle”, we will introduce new series of
anti-hair fall branded shampoos for attracting young customers
and stimulating their interests to purchase our products; and

We will carry out scheduled and ad-hoc offline activities, such
as product launch conferences, cosmetic courses, and content-
rich and vivid counter-shows to promote our products which
would attract the consumers and improve the interaction and
connection between our brand and the consumers, so as to
enhance the sales of our branded products at various shopping
centers.

For Royal Wind branded product series, the Group will sell these
branded products, which are mainly hair-care product series, through
the conventional channel and online sales channel so as to attract
more young consumers and to enhance sales revenue of this brand.

For Litao branded product series, the Group will continue with its
household care brand positioning, and will continue to sell laundry
detergent and other HPC products through our conventional
channels.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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For conventional channels, the Group will continue to deepen
cooperation and interaction with distributors by:

(1)

Hosting new product sales meetings for developing new
distributors and exploring the potential green field markets for
establishment of points-of-sales so as to increase the sales
through this channel;

Leveraging on the grand opening or anniversary celebration of
shops for carrying out sales promotion activities to increase
sales volume;

Increasing the frequency of weekend promotion and counter
shows, and making use of creative performances to catch
shoppers’ attention so as to achieve positive effects on our
brand influence;

Strengthening the sales support services offered to key
distributors, key channels and key points-of-sales for enhancing
the revenue generated from distribution channels; and

Continuing to optimise the infrastructure of all points-of-sales
and streamlining the product displays in shops so as to stabilise
the sales revenue.

As for the online sales channel, the Group hopes to achieve stable
growth through implementation of the following plans:

(1)

the Group will re-shuffle and re-position the structure of
products at T-Mall flagship stores and T-Mall Supermarket. On
the basis of the current hot-sales items such as re-growing
bundles and oil, the Group will re-classify the customer
segments in accordance with the different scenarios of their
daily life and will roll out two brand new series of anti-hair fall
shampoo with novel and attractive packaging, namely “Fragrant
Bottle” and “Rosefinch Bottle,” with a view to upgrading the
image of Bawang branded products so as to increase the sales
revenue. At the same time, the Group will roll out horizontal
upgraded haircare products onto this platform such as anti-
dandruff, hair mask and hair conditioner for increasing sales
revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group will refer to the characteristics and direction of
cooperation with JD.com platform and gather the statistics of
visits through the operational devices embedded in the system
for increasing the sales revenue through this platform.
Additionally, the Group will monitor the market reaction for
launch of new products and make adjustments accordingly so
as to increase the sales through this platform.

The Group will continue to roll out high cost performance
products which suit customers from Pinduoduo. The official
10-billion-dollar subsidy program of Pinduoduo will serve to
stimulate the sales growth from this platform.

For the benefit of distributors, the Group will explore the
cooperation with the door-to-door distribution channel including
Meituan, Pupu, and 1688 through which our products for oral
care and body care will be supplied so as to expand our
distribution channel and increase the sales from channel
distributors.

The Group will continue to increase the investment in the live-
streaming platform of Duoyin. Additional live-streaming rooms
will be established and new hot-sales items will be created on
the basis of existing hot-sales items to boost our sales with
more breakout products. At the same time, through the
expansion of cooperation with market-leading and mid-tier
KOLs, we will cooperate with them in recommending our
products to achieve brand awareness and brand sales volume.

The group will develop a green field business channel through
the social media platform of Wechat Channels (#k{= % #85%), for
which our Group does not yet have a meaningful presence, for
the purpose of increasing sales revenue.

For production management, we always emphasize on the innovation
of the core technology of our products with the quality of products
guaranteed. We will leverage on the capability of our professional
research and development team to maintain strategic cooperation
with universities and research institutions. While we strive to maintain
our competitive advantage, we also aim to promote Bawang brand
image and market leadership through production-study-research
cooperation and transformation of research achievements to high-
quality products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE® RN (&)

We will manage to enhance our corporate operational effectiveness
and competitiveness through continuous improvement and
optimizations of internal work process, management system,
production efficiency. We will arrange overhauling of production
workshops, and to enhance the factory image so as to make our
production environment even safer. We will arrange to digitize our
production lines by replacing the existing old production lines and
equipment so as to enhance the production efficiency and to
conserve energy.

We will implement a complete performance-based assessment
system with the people-oriented production management concept.
We will provide training and education programs for enhancement of
the skills of workers and their awareness of occupational safety. We
will also arouse the workers’ awareness on the concept of green
production which serves to reduce the production costs and at the
same time increase their wages and fringe benefits.

We will adopt a more flexible and advanced supply chain approach to
reasonably utilize the production facilities and factory space, and to
optimise the production processes. Subsequent to the balance sheet
date, our solar energy installation has started its operations which
helps to reduce the conventional power usage for the purpose of
production costs saving as well as to achieve reductions in the
carbon emissions. Whilst exercising stringent control over the
production flow and process and at the same time ensuring the
quality of products, we will minimize the materials spoilage and
energy wasting so as to achieve the various environmental emission
targets that have been predetermined by the Company.

For our original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) business, we will
make use of our competitive advantages in professional design,
research and development capabilities, mature production
management techniques and advanced production infrastructures for
expanding our OEM business with a view to strengthening our co-
operations with quality customers so as to increase our market share
and influence in this business sector.

We believe that through the above-mentioned resources
management and workflow integration to maximise production
effectiveness, we can reduce costs and enhance the efficiency. We
will be able to sustain high quality development for achieving the
Company’s predetermined emission targets as stated in the
Company’s ESG report, thereby creating more returns for our
shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As part of the business expansion plan, the Group will continue to
explore the possibility of engaging with potential distributors for
launching our branded products to other countries. The Group is
open to explore further business opportunities with potential overseas
distributors.

As of the date of this report, the Group does not have any
outstanding acquisition opportunity on hand, nor is actively exploring
business opportunities that may involve potential acquisition.
However, the Group would consider the feasibility of any potential
investment opportunities to enhance the returns to our shareholders.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

The Group adopts conservative financial management policies and
maintains a good and solid financial position. As at 31 December
2023, the time deposits, bank balances and cash of the Group were
approximately RMB118.3 million (2022: approximately RMB124.4
million). Of which, the total time deposits with various maturity dates
of the Group were approximately RMB30.0 million (2022:
approximately RMB50.0 million). A summary of liquidity and financial
resources is set out below:
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2023 2022

R-ZB-=F RZETEZZF

+=—A=+—-H +ZH=+—H

RMB in million RMB in million

AREBETR AREBETT

Time deposits, bank balances and cash E 2 7(_ ,TA WITESR LIRS 118.3 124.4

Total loans By 0 0

Total assets gy F 230.3 244.2

The gearing ratio’ BEBEBEX' 0% 0%
Note: Wt -

1. Calculate as total loans divided by total assets
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE® RN (&)

Material Acquisition and Disposal

The Group did not engage in any material acquisition or disposal of
any of its subsidiaries or associates during the year under review.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates
and Hedging

The operations of the Group are mainly carried out in China, with
most transactions being settled in Renminbi. The reporting currency
of the Group is Renminbi. During the year under review, the Group
had exported its goods to Hong Kong and certain overseas countries.
The transactions were settled in either Hong Kong Dollars or United
States Dollars. The Group’s cash and bank deposits are mostly
denominated in Renminbi. The Company will pay dividends in Hong
Kong Doallars if dividends are declared. The Directors are of the view
that the Group conducts its business transactions principally in
Renminbi and thus the exchange risk at the Group’s operational level
is not significant. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not issued
any material financial instruments or entered into any material
contracts for foreign currency hedging purposes. However, the
Directors will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure of
the Group and are prepared to take prudent measures such as
hedging when required.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2023.

Capital Commitment
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material capital

commitment.

Charge of Assets

The Group had no charge of assets as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands,
the Company had no reserves available for distribution to the
shareholders as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Inventories

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had inventories of approximately
RMB25.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 4.5%
compared with approximately RMB27.1 million for 2022. Such
decrease was primarily due to the decline in the Group’s sales volume
during the year, which led management to reduce the stock of raw
materials, packaging materials and finished goods during the year.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in valuing its inventory. The
Group continuously monitors the inventory levels of its different raw
materials, packaging materials and finished goods, and based on
feedback from the sales force on the various product lines and sales
figures, the management regularly identifies the inventory levels of
individual inventory items to determine whether there is any slow
moving or obsolete items or finished goods. On this basis, the
management will devise actions to be taken in relation to such
inventory prior to their obsolescence, and/or whether provision
should be made.

Trade Receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB17.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 23.8% compared with approximately RMB14.3 million
for 2022. Such increase was primarily due to the increase in sales in
the online channel leading to an increase in trade receivables during
the year.

Some of the Group’s sales are made on credit, trade receivables are
resulted when the goods and titles have been delivered and passed,
respectively. The management regularly reviews the credit quality of
the Group’s customers and their partners to evaluate whether
provision should be made.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2023, the trade and other payables of the Group
was approximately RMB59.4 million (2022: RMB79.6 million). The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in trade payables and
accrued payroll, but such decrease was partially offset by the
increase in other payables and accruals. As at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022, trade and other payables did not include
any balances due to related parties.

Human Resources

To provide incentive to the employees of the Group, the Group is
committed to staff training and development under any economic
circumstances. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees. The Group will continue to invest in our human capital so
as to retain a quality workforce to achieve our organisational goal.

In 2023, the Group organised various in-house training classes to
strengthen the soft skills of our staff members such as time
management, stress management, and leadership development.
Apart from these in-house courses, the Group also required our
department managers to attend external courses on reward and
compensation, and motivation, we required our senior sales and
marketing staff to attend brand positioning strategy course, and we
required our finance and accounting staff members to attend
seminars about the latest legislative/regulatory compliance,
accounting standards, taxation practices and budgetary control.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 430
employees (31 December 2022: approximately 442), consisting of
full-time employees and contract personnel in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The total personnel expenses, comprising wages, salaries and
benefits, amounted to approximately RMB40.6 million for 2023 (31
December 2022: approximately RMB55.0 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the total headcount of

our employees and contract personnel as at 31 December 2023 and
2022:

Full-time employees 2BEE
Contract personnel AHEE

— Full time -2

— Part time - F B
Total employees BEBA"Y

The employees’ remuneration, promotion and salary review are
based on individual job responsibilities, work performances,
professional experiences and the prevailing industry practices.

Our employees in the PRC and Hong Kong join social insurance
contribution plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme,
respectively. Other benefits include performance-based incentive
bonus scheme and share options granted or to be granted under the
share option schemes.

The Directors believe that the Group’s human resources policies play
a crucial part in the further development of the Group. Promising
career prospects, good staff remuneration and benefits as well as
pleasant working environment are essential factors for maintenance
of a stable workforce for the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Corporate Governance Code and the
Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to enhancing the corporate governance
of the Group, and the Board reviews and updates all such necessary
measures in order to promote good corporate governance.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with the
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year under review.

Board of Directors

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised six members,
including the Chairman, Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, the Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. CHEN Zheng He (the “CEQ”), the Chief Financial Officer
and three independent non-executive Directors. Biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section headed Directors and
Senior Management on pages 62 to 66 of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for approving and monitoring the Group’s
strategies and policies, approving annual budgets and business
plans, evaluating the performance of the Group and supervising the
work of management. The management is responsible for the daily
operations of the Group under the leadership of the CEO.

The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company. These
responsibilities include implementing decisions of the Board and
directing and co-ordinating day-to-day operation and management of
the Group. The Board reviews these arrangements periodically to
ensure such arrangements remain appropriate to the Group’s needs.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

To satisfy the independence requirement of the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board must determine that the independent
non-executive Directors do not have any direct or indirect material
relationship with the Group. The Board follows the requirements set
out in the Listing Rules to determine the independence of Directors.
To ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Board also consults with its external advisors as and when
required for it to obtain independent views on matters ranging from (but
not limited to) legal and regulatory compliance, financial report and
corporate governance.

In addition, to ensure that there is a strong independent element in
the Board, when nominating independent non-executive Directors to
the Board, the Board takes into account factors including but not
limited to the nominee’s character, integrity, professional profile, and
relevant working experience in the context of the profiles and working
experience of other Directors. To ensure that independent non-
executive Directors are able to perform their duties impartially, none
of them has any role in the daily management of the Group, and the
Board will also take into account the Nomination Policy to ensure that
the independent non-executive Director candidates proposed would
be able to provide independent views to the Board. The Board also
regularly reviews the re-appointment of any independent non-
executive Director who has served more than nine years, and will
ensure that any such reappointment would be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meetings of the Company. Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of 3 years.

The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are performed by different
person in order to reinforce their independence and accountability.
Except that the CEO, Mr. CHEN Zheng He, is the son of Mr. CHEN
Qiyuan, the Directors are not otherwise related to each other.

The Board held 12 meetings in 2023. Each of Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, Mr.
CHEN Zheng He, Mr. WONG Sin Yung, Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing, Dr.
WANG Qi and Dr. LIU Jing attended all meetings.

The Company has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) and the board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) as
required by the Corporate Governance Code and the Listing Rules,
respectively, and has taken into account the diversity of the Board
when selecting the candidates from a number of perspectives as
stated in the Diversity Policy as published on the Company’s
webpage.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Nomination Policy

Either the secretary or the chairman of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and may invite
nominations of candidates from the Board members, if any, for the
Nomination Committee to consider prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also nominate candidate(s) who are not
nominated by any member of the Board. For filling a casual vacancy,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation(s) for the
consideration and approval of the Board. For proposing candidate(s)
to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation to the shareholders of the Company for approval.

In order to provide information on the candidate(s) nominated by the
Board for election at a shareholders’ general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The relevant circular will at a minimum set out such information
about each proposed candidate, as required under the applicable
laws, rules and regulations, the Company’s constitutional documents
and the Listing Rules. A shareholder may serve a notice to the
Company Secretary within the lodgment period of its intention to
propose a resolution to elect a certain person as a director without
the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination. The particulars of the proposed candidates will be sent
to all shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

In assessing the suitability of a potential candidate, the Nomination
Committee would consider factors, including but not limited to,
candidate’s personal integrity and character, accomplishment and
experience that are relevant to the Group’s business, and diversity of
the Board in accordance with the Diversity Policy.

Diversity Policy

In achieving diversity of the Board, a number of aspects of each
director candidate will be considered, including but not limited to
gender, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and the candidates will
be considered based on the objective criteria as set out in this policy
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Diversity Policy and has followed the Nomination Policy and the
Diversity Policy in the nomination of the new Director(s).
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of an express diversity
quota or measurable objective in achieving board diversity. After the
appointment of Dr. Liu Jing at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 May 2022, the Board has members of both
genders, and the Board considers that the Diversity Policy has been
followed in furthering the diversity of the Board and after taking into
account the current Board size and also the general industry
landscape, it is appropriate to maintain the current gender diversity
ratio at the Board level without setting further specific numerical
targets and timelines, or design specific measures to develop a
further pipeline of potential successors to the Board on matters
relating to gender diversity. The Board will continue with its practice
of considering candidates for directorship of the Board based on the
diversity perspectives as set out in the Diversity Policy.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a relatively balanced
workforce overall in terms of gender distribution, with a female to
male employee ratio of (55:45), with both men and women being well
represented in the various different functions throughout the Group.
The Company supports diversity across a variety of perspectives, the
key areas of which are similar to those for the board diversity. The
Group will keep in mind its diversity policy to reach a balanced gender
ratio in its workforce as one of its corporate objectives in the long run.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which, the decision to declare a dividend or a distribution
will be at the discretion of the Board. The Company intends to
declare dividends to shareholders semi-annually in an aggregate
amount per year not exceeding 30% of the anticipated consolidated
net annual profits and may declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to interim or final dividends. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account (including but not limited to) the
Group’s operations and earnings, development needs, cash flow,
financial condition, capital and other reserve requirements and
surplus, contractual and financial restrictions and any other conditions
or factors which the Board considers relevant and having regard to
the directors’ fiduciary duties. While sharing the profit with
shareholders, the Company shall also maintain sufficient reserves to
ensure the implementation of the Group’s strategy for development.
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The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
laws of Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules, the laws of Hong Kong,
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company and
those laws, regulations and memorandum and articles of association
to which the subsidiaries of the Group are subject.

The Divided Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and
there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.

The Company is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

Update on Directors’ Information

Dr. NGAI Wai Fung, an independent non-executive Director, ceased
to be an independent non-executive director of the Company from 27
May 2022. Dr. NGAI also ceased to be the chairman of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing, an independent non-executive Director,
ceased to be an independent non-executive director of Trio Industrial
Electronics Group Limited (Stock code: 1710) from 27 May 2022.

Remuneration of Directors and Chief Executive

Details of the remuneration of each Director and the Chief Executive
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements. Other than the Directors and the
Chief Executive, there is no other member of senior management.

Directors’ Training

Under Code Provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code,
directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Internally facilitated briefings for directors are arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors (being Mr.
CHEN Qiyuan, Mr. CHEN Zheng He, Mr. WONG Sin Yung, Mr.
CHEUNG Kin Wing, Dr. WANG Qi and Dr. LIU Jing) received regular
updates on the Group’s business, operations, risk management and
corporate governance matters, and participated in the directors’
training offered by professional bodies and/or arranged by the
Company. Materials on new or changes to salient laws and
regulations applicable to the Group were provided to the Directors.
Directors are requested to provide their records of training they
received to the Company Secretary for record and annual review by
the Nomination Committee. During the year under review, the
Directors received an aggregate of approximately 228.8 hours of
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training in various fields as follows: BB F R T
2023 Directors’ Training by Topic
TECCZHFEERIEE
Hong Kong Financial Economy/ Business
Legislative/  Director’s Reporting/ Capital Management/
Average per person* Regulatory Duties/ESG Taxation/Risk Market Investor
approximately 38 hours Compliance Practices Management Updates Relationship Others'
EREG, BEWME UHERE S ey
EEREN RE uF B emmE  EEEES
8 ATIH%: 138/ B RERER [ BB BH 2 REEBEE Hi'
Executive Director HITESE
Mr. CHEN Qiyuan F5R BYOR o A v v v v v v
Mr. CHEN Zheng He BRI 88 % A& v v v 4 v v
Mr. WONG Sin Yung HEEREE v v v v v v
Independent
Non-executive
Directors BIYKHTES
Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing ~ SRzE& 48 4 4 v v v v
Dr. WANG Qi THEL v v v v v 4
Dr. LIU Jing* 2EE L v v v v v v
1. Include topics such as technology transfer and industry association internal training, 1. BREBORMER  TEHERLFNIES -
etc.
2. The calculation is based on an aggregate of six directors who served the whole years. 2. BFUAHRNNESTREEFTE -
BIER(RE)ERERAR ZZ-=ZFFR8K
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises our executive Director, Mr.
CHEN Zheng He, and our two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing and Dr. WANG Qi. Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing is
the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of our Group, review performance
based remuneration and ensures that none of our Directors determine
their own remuneration. If necessary, the Remuneration Committee
will have access to independent advice.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2023. Each of
Mr. CHEN Zheng He, Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing and Dr. WANG Qi
attended the said meeting.

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee discussed the
remuneration structure of the Directors; assessed the performance of
directors; and reviewed the terms of directors’ service contract for
Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing and renewed the contract with effect from on
13 November 2023.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises our executive Director, Mr.
CHEN Qiyuan, and our two independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
CHEUNG Kin Wing and Dr. WANG Qi. Mr. CHEN Qiyuan is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to make recommendations to the
Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and the re-
election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings in 2023. During the
meetings, the committee members reviewed the senior management
structure of the Group and the re-election of Directors; reviewed and
recommended to the Board about the appointment of director, Mr.
CHEUNG Kin Wing with effect from 13 November 2023; and
assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
All serving committee members attended the two meetings held in
2023.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
two of whom possess the appropriate business and financial
experience and skills to understand the accounts of the Group. The
Audit and Risk Management Committee had been chaired by Mr.
CHEUNG Kin Wing. The other members are Dr. WANG Qi and Dr.
LIU Jing.

The written terms of reference which describes the authority and
duties of the Audit and Risk Management Committee was prepared
and adopted in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit and
Risk Management Committee is required, amongst other things, to
oversee the relationship with the external auditors, to review the
Group’s interim and annual results, to review the scope, extent and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to review accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group, to engage independent legal or other advisers as it determines
necessary and to perform investigations. SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited will confirm its independence before accepting the
engagement of non-audit services.

During the year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee has
performed the following:

— met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope and
findings of their annual audit and interim review work;

— reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditor’s remuneration;

— made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of
the external auditor;

— reviewed the external auditor’s independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the auditing process;

— reviewed the annual and interim reports and annual and interim
results announcements of the Company;

— reviewed the effectiveness and the implementation of the
Group’s internal audit and risk management function;
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— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters of the Company before
recommending them to the Board for approval; and

— reviewed the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has reviewed the annual
report with the management and the external auditors and
recommended its adoption by the Board.

In 2023, all issues raised by the external auditor and the Audit and
Risk Management Committee have been addressed by the senior
management of the Company. The work and findings of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues were brought to the attention of the senior
management of the Company and the Board of sufficient significance
for disclosure in this annual report.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held three meetings in
2023. Each of Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing, Dr. WANG Qi and Dr. LIU Jing
had attended all three meetings.

Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee

The Environmental, Social and Governance Committee held two
meetings on or before 2 June 2023. During the meetings, Members
of the Committee have reviewed the 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report and set up an Environmental, Social and
Governance working group; and set targets for future air, greenhouse
gas, and energy emissions.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company, and for ensuring that the
financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable
statutory requirements and accounting standards.

A statement from the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023, is set out on pages 72 to 74 of the annual
report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for making appropriate assertions on the
adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and procedures and to resolve material internal
control defects. The Board together with the senior management of
the Group are jointly responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control of the Group so as to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations of the Group in achieving
the established corporate objectives, safeguarding assets of the
Group, rendering reliable financial reporting and complying with the
applicable laws and regulations.

During the year under review, the management of the Group, through
its daily management activities, gathers information on the Group’s
business, receives reports from the internal control function of the
Group, and analyses feedback from frontline and back office staff to
identify risks in the Group’s business, operation, financial conditions
and future expansion plans. Significant risks that are identified are
presented to the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the
Board on an ongoing basis.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board is
responsible for reviewing reports and proposals submitted. The Audit
and Risk Management Committee will consider such risks and
recommend to the Board measures that should to be taken to
address them. Where appropriate, management of the Group will
assist the Audit and Risk Management Committee in submitting
proposals to the Board to address risks faced by the Group.
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Based on the risks identified by the Group’s management and the
Group’s internal control function, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee will also regularly review and report to the Board as to
whether the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective, whether there are adequate resources (including
budgetary support for the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, staff with adequate qualification and
experience) for the implementation of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, and whether measures are in place to
ensure that the staff are suitably trained for this purpose. The
Directors will then collectively decide on what actions should be
taken.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group covering all material controls such as financial, operational
and compliance controls, and the Board considers that these
systems and controls are well established to suit the Group’s needs
and are effective and adequate.

The Directors recognise that the Group’s risk management and
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Handling and disclosure of inside information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information (as defined under the Listing
Rules), the Company is fully aware of its obligations under Chapter 13
of the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The
Board reviews from time to time its internal guidelines on inside
information or potentially price sensitive information with reference to
its own and industry circumstances and also makes reference to the
“Guide on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission in considering its obligations to make a
disclosure. The Company’s policy strictly prohibits unauthorised use
or dissemination of confidential or inside information and has
established and implemented procedures for responding to external
enquiries about the Group’s affairs, including the provision of an email
address for external enquiries. The Company Secretary also regularly
sends out reminders to the Directors, senior management and
employees reminding them of their obligations with respect to inside
information under the relevant statutory provisions and the Listing
Rules.
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All media communication activities are restricted to persons
appointed by the Board for the role in order to protect the interests of
the Company and keep inside information strictly confidential prior to
its disclosure.

Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

The Company establishes different communication channels with
shareholders and investors: (i) dispatching printed copies of corporate
communication documents to shareholders; (i) the annual general
meeting provides a forum for shareholders to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board; (iii) latest and key information of the
Group is available on the website of the Company; (iv) press
conference and briefing meetings with investors, shareholders and
analysts may be set up from time to time to provide updated
information about the Group, and; (v) the Company’s registrars serve
the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters. The
Board welcomes views of shareholders and encourages them to
attend general meetings to raise any concerns they might have with
the Board or the management directly. The Chairman of the Board as
well as the Chairmen and/or other members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Remuneration Committee will
normally attend the annual general meetings and other shareholders’
meetings of the Company to answer questions raised.

The Company convened shareholders’ general meeting in 2023, this
being the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) for the year 2022,
which was held on 2 June 2023, reviewed and approved a number of
resolutions such as the financial statements for the year 2022, Report
of Directors, appointment and remuneration of auditors of the
Company, and the adoption of the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. All the
serving Directors then, namely Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, Mr. CHEN Zheng
He, Mr. WONG Sin Yung, Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing, Dr. WANG Qi and
Dr. LIU Jing had attended the AGM.

The Company has conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of its policies on investor relations and communication
with shareholders. Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and shareholder engagement in place, and the
feedback that it has received, it is satisfied that the policies that are in
place for investor relations and communication with shareholders
have been properly implemented and is effective during the year
under review.
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Company Secretary

The company secretary is Mr. WONG Sin Yung, an associate
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
WONG is also our executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. He
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board
and that the policy and procedures of the Board are followed.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. WONG has
received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”),
shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings may
request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting
by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board.

Contact details are as follows:

Address: Suite B, 12/F Ritz Plaza,

122 Austin Road,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of Mr. WONG Sin Yung,
Company Secretary)

Fax: +852 3118 6161

Email: IR@1338.hk
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Constitutional Documents

The second amended and restated memorandum of association and
articles of association of the Company was adopted by way of
special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 2 June 2023 to, inter alia, comply with the Core
Shareholder Protection Standards set out in Appendix A1 to the
Listing Rules and make other housekeeping amendments. Other than
the above, there was no other significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The remunerations paid/(payable) to the Company’s independent
external auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, for the year ended
31 December 2023 in relation to audit services and non-audit
services (including the review of the Company’s interim results
announcement and interim report for the year 2023, respectively)
were approximately RMB939,000 and RMB224,000, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE ASPECTS

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. A report on the environmental, social
and governance aspects is being prepared with reference to
Appendix C2 (Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide) to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and will
be published respectively on the websites of the Company
(www.bawang.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange in due course.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHSE

The Directors submit this Report of Directors together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are the designing, manufacturing,
trading and distribution of Chinese herbal products, including
shampoo products, hair-care products, skin-care products, and
household cleaning products. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out on pages 166 to 167 of this
annual report.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
particulars of important events affecting the Group that had occurred
since the end of the financial year 2023, as well as indication of likely
future developments in the business of the Group are set out in the
sections “Business Review” on pages 11 to 15, “Key Risks and
Uncertainties” on pages 15 to 16, “Environmental Protection” on
page 16, “Business Compliance” on page 17, “Relationship with
Employees, Customers and Suppliers” on page 17, and “Outlook” on
pages 21 to 27 of this report respectively. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue among the different operating segments is set out in the
sections “Revenue and Segment Information” on pages 126 to 130
and “Five Year Financial Summary” on page 168 in this report.

Dividends

Following a review of the operating results of the Group, the Board
does not recommend the payment of any final dividends in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are

set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 75 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the financial year 2023 are set out on pages 78 and
160 of this annual report respectively.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales made to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 13.17% and 5.25%, respectively of the total sales
of the Group. The Group purchased approximately 41.74% and
14.18%, respectively of its goods and services from its five largest
suppliers and the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors) owning more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had an interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 168 of this annual
report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (EB)

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of the movements in the share capital of and the share
options granted by the Company are set forth in notes 28 and 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Changes in Equity

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity as
contained in the audited consolidated financial statements of the year
(page 78 of this annual report).

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or

the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

Principal Subsidiaries
Please refer to note 35 of the audited consolidated financial

statements for details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2023.

Purchase, Sa!e or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
under review.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme described below, the Group has
not entered into any equity-linked agreements during the year.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float with at least 25% of the Shares held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of assets of our Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur about the execution of
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. Such permitted
indemnity provision is currently in force and was in force throughout
the financial year. For the year under review and as at the date of this
report, the Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against the directors of the Company.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (EB)

Directors
The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors

CHEN Qiyuan (Chairman)
CHEN Zheng He (Chief Executive Officer)
WONG Sin Yung cra

Independent non-executive Directors

CHEUNG Kin Wing rca, cra
Dr. WANG Qi pnp
Dr. LIU Jing pro

Directors’ Biographies and re-election of Directors

Details of the Directors’ (for the year ended 31 December 2023)
biographies have been set out on pages 62 to 66 of the annual
report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of our executive Directors (other than Mr. CHEN Zheng He) has
entered into a director’s service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years from 4 July 2015. Mr. CHEN Zheng He has
entered into a director’s service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years from 20 October 2014. All these service
agreements are automatically renewable upon expiration, unless
terminated by not less than six months’ written notice served by
either party to the service agreement on the other or in accordance
with the provisions set out in the relevant service agreement.

For the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of three years from 13 November 2023. Dr. WANG Qi has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years from 17 April 2021. Dr. LIU Jing has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from 27 May
2022.

None of the Directors of the Company has entered into any service
contract with the Company which cannot be terminated by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments for the Directors are determined with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, experience, responsibilities
and performance of the Group. The Directors may be benefited from
fees, salaries, housing allowances, other allowances, benefits in kind
or bonuses in accordance with their respective service contracts.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As of 31 December 2023, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)), which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
had taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
to be and were entered into the register that was required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code:

EEZERE (A

EENE

EEMen2EAL ARG S
HE BREMEEASENRAME
T EFARBEZAENRBEOHZS
R e EFEM HM=RM H
Y eE S TEAL

B2 R
ARTBEEEBIENTEFRIE L

MmARBFEIIBEHE L 2 FE BT IERHER
EURRERBBYUFANTEETHRE

<t

Hp ol ot S
ek
w5 i
RN
B &
W
1) N 1
F %

v
N

3

EF}’-

i}

&

=

SN
i i
&>

B

bl
RS XA

|
Al

Z_=F+-A=+—H EEk
ARAITHRABRARAREBREE
(RBBEOESNEZHF REBE KD
(TRERBEHR ) GO XVED N E &
R - RO RESFED  FEE @R
BEREFMERIIEXVEET7 R E8D B
MREANEARARA RBZAHERE R
KR (BREERE L ES NS G
% AR E MR A R B & SR
B) HO)RIEEF KB E &P 5352 1%
RMEREBLRTHFENELMAES
KRR RORBEELETARERANE
ARABNEBEBIAWAT

)

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK

51



52

Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (EB)

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in shares, underlying shares and

EFEREETRAARFTLFRMG
HEEMRREEPEANER R *

debentures of the Company b=
Number of
ordinary  Approximate
shares/ percentage of
underlying issued share
ordinary capital of the
shares of the Company
Company held R A FE
Name of director/ BELT 2817
chief executive Long/short position in HEBRX B Az
EE BETHRAR ordinary shares Nature of interest HBEEER KRB DL
=8 EERP2E KE REEMEEHE R 8B (W)
CHEN Qiyuan (Note 1) Long Interest in controlled 1,900,840,000 60.12%
corporation
PR BRIR (B 3E) e PR 4% 1% B 4 25
CHEN Zheng He (Note 2) Long Interest in controlled 1,900,840,000 60.12%
corporation
Bk 1E 85 (FF5E2) Sy P15 5 B
WONG Sin Yung Long Beneficial owner 2,100,000 0.07%
HER A EnEA A
Notes: B 5

CHEN Qiyuan was deemed to be interested in the 1,900,840,000 shares of the
Company held by Fortune Station Ltd. (“Fortune Station”) by virtue of CHEN Qiyuan
holding 50.43% of the issued share capital of Fortune Station. The remaining 49.57%
of the issued share capital of Fortune Station was held by Heroic Hour Limited (“Heroic
Hour”). Heroic Hour’s entire issued share capital is held by CHEN Zheng He as trustee
for himself and on behalf of his six brothers and sisters. The beneficial interests of
CHEN Qiyuan’s five children under the age of 18, namely CHEN Li Zi, CHEN Zheng
Sheng, CHEN Zheng Yan, CHEN Ya Shan and CHEN Bo Ling in Heroic Hour,
representing 65.00% of the issued share capital of Heroic Hour, were also attributable
to CHEN Qiyuan.

CHEN Zheng He was deemed to be interested in the shares of Fortune Station held by
Heroic Hour by virtue of him holding the entire issued share capital of Heroic Hour (as
trustee for himself and his six brothers and sisters). Therefore CHEN Zheng He was
deemed to be interested in the 1,900,840,000 shares of the Company held by Fortune
Station.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of associated corporations

EEZERE (A

ESREETHA R R HE B R K
fo-HHRKMRREBPRZERH
=

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary interest in
Name of director/ Name of shares held associated
chief executive associated Long/short BEH corporation
BEE BETHRAE corporation Nature of interest position ZER REBEZEYP
=L HELE RS BEME %/ %R ROEE <EZEIL
CHEN Qiyuan (Note 1) Fortune Station Beneficial owner Long 20,000 50.43%
BR RO (B 3 1) ERBAA Sy
Interest of children under Long 12,777 32.22%
the age of 18
AMIBHF R 2w Sy
Other Long 6,880 17.35%
Hit e
CHEN Zheng He (Note 2) Fortune Station Interest in controlled corporation  Long 19,657 49.57%
PR IE#5 (Fid 3 2) P12 1A B Sy
Notes: (T
1. CHEN Qiyuan was the beneficial owner of approximately 50.43% of the issued share 1. P& BLR A& Fortune Station 2 22 17 1% 2K 19 #950.43% &

capital of Fortune Station. The beneficial interests of CHEN Qiyuan’s five children under
the age of 18 in Heroic Hour, representing 65.00% of the issued share capital of
Heroic Hour, were also attributable to CHEN Qiyuan. Heroic Hour held approximately
49.57% of the issued share capital of Fortune Station.

2. CHEN Zheng He was deemed to be interested in the interests of Fortune Station held
by Heroic Hour by virtue of him holding the entire issued share capital of Heroic Hour (as
trustee for himself and his six brothers and sisters).

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as
known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, neither the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
had taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
to be and were entered into in the register that was required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.
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5 15 A #965.00% Heroic Hour 2, 8% 17 BX 2R IR 448 &
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders of the Company

As of 31 December 2023, so far as known to any Director or chief
executive of the Company, shareholders (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register that was required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

KRB ETERRNEER

N
IRE

BAABMEMNESTHIETSTRAEMR
MR _E_=F+_A=t—H KX
(RARREZHRZRSTHRABIN RK
DRBERDTEBERIEZS XHE &
PIFE3BHFREAECLNFFENE LM
AEERSORR W

Approximate

Number of percentage of
ordinary shares issued share
of the Company capital of the

Name of shareholder Nature of interest held Company
RAaFE
BENLAR BITRAHZ
EBER EEEIHL
KRR &R EEME %5 & B (W)
Fortune Station Beneficial owner 1,900,840,000 (L) 60.12%
EREAA
Heroic Hour Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 942,199,659 (L) 29.80%
PREGDEE R (MEE1)
WAN Yuhua (Note 2) Interest of children under the age of 18 612,429,778 (L) 19.36%
B EE (fFaE2) N1 A F & 2 #Ea
CHEN Cynthia Yuping (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
BoR &% 5T (P 51 3) EEXEm A GERMIBE)
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
H Ath
CHEN Li Zi (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
CHENLi Zi (Fff 5 3) ERXa A GERBEIET)
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
EH A,
CHEN Zheng Sheng (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
CHEN Zheng Sheng (Fff 3£ 3) =X m A GERIBER)
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
EHAh,
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EEZERE (A

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares issued share
of the Company capital of the
Name of shareholder Nature of interest held Company
RAFE
BEWNAR BITREDBPZ
ZRER EEESHK
BRRER EEME [gvig - g (B 20
CHEN Zheng Yan (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
RR IE 72 (Bt 5E3) EaEZEACGERIBER
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
Hfth
CHEN Ya Shan (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
PR 7= (Bt 5E3) =X =mAGERBERT)
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
HAth
CHEN Bo Ling (Note 3) Beneficiary of a trust (other than a discretionary trust) 122,466,303 (L) 3.87%
CHEN Bo Ling (Fff 5£3) X m A GERMIBFERT)
Other 1,778,373,697 (L) 56.25%
HAfth
(L)—Long Position
L—tr’E
Notes: B &E -
1. Heroic Hour was the beneficial owner of approximately 49.57% of the issued share 1. 7& #& Heroic Hour /& Fortune Station 2 3% 17 B 48 9 49

capital of Fortune Station and was deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by Fortune Station.

2. The beneficial interests of WAN Yuhua's five children under the age of 18, namely
CHEN Li Zi, CHEN Zheng Sheng, CHEN Zheng Yan, CHEN Ya Shan and CHEN Bo
Ling in Heroic Hour, representing 65.00% of the issued share capital of Heroic Hour,
were also attributable to WAN Yuhua.

3. The interests of CHEN Cynthia Yuping, CHEN Li Zi, CHEN Zheng Sheng, CHEN Zheng
Yan, CHEN Ya Shan and CHEN Bo Ling were held as beneficiaries under a trust,
which held 100% of the issued share capital of Heroic Hour.

Other than as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, the
Company has not notified by any person (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

49.57%E x5 # & A Heroic Hour ## 13 /& 1 Fortune
StationFs A R AIRMH P L = ©
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Share Option Scheme

The Company currently has in place a share option scheme, the
purpose of which is to give the Directors, senior management and
employees of the Group an opportunity to have a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate its employees to optimise their
performance and efficiency, and also to retain employees whose
contributions are important to the long-term growth and profitability
of the Group.

The current scheme was adopted on 29 May 2020 (the “2020 Share
Option Scheme”), which replaced the previous share option scheme
that expired on 19 May 2019. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2020 Share Option Scheme would remain in force for
10 years from the date of it becoming unconditional. All conditions for
the adoption of the 2020 Share Option Scheme have been fulfilled on
2 June 2020.

The eligible participants of the 2020 Share Option Scheme may
include, among others, directors, employees, consultants,
professionals, customers, suppliers, agents, business or joint venture
partners, advisors and contractors of the Group or a company in
which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30.0% (or such other
percentage as may be allowed under the Listing Rules) of the total
number of Shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number
of Shares issuable to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1.0% of the Shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval at a
general meeting.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme shall be 316,244,072
shares, representing 10.0% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. As at 1 January and 31
December of the year under review, 316,244,072 options may be
granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Share options granted to a connected person (or its associates) of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
and with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance at
a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted, upon payment
of an option price to be determined by the Board from time to time.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Board, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the share options.

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which an
option must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
2020 Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board, but
shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer
date, which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and (jii) the nominal value of a Share.

An offer of a grant of share options shall be deemed to have been
accepted and a share option to which the offer relates shall be
deemed to have been granted and accepted and to have taken effect
when the Company, within 21 days from the date on which a share
option is offered to an eligible participant, receives the duly signed
offer letter from the grantee together with the number of shares in
respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated therein and a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other sum in any
currency as the Board may determine) in favour of the Company as
consideration for the grant of share option thereof.

Since the effective date of the 2020 Share Option Scheme and up to
31 December 2023, no share option was outstanding under the 2020
Share Option Scheme, and there was no share option granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2020 Share Option Scheme
since its effective date and up to the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions

During the year under review, the Group had no new connected
transaction entered into or continuing connected transactions that
were ongoing under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that were not
fully exempt. In prior year, the Group had entered into the following
connected transaction(s) in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules that were not fully exempt under the Listing Rules, and
which was supplemented to and amended during 2022.

1. Lease Agreement for the Group’s production facilities,
office premises and staff dormitory

On 17 November 2020, &/ E{titmBR A7 (Guangzhou
Bawang Cosmetics Co., Ltd.*) (“Guangzhou Bawang’) as
lessor and B&E (EMN) AR QA (Bawang Guangzhou Co.,
Ltd.") (“Bawang Guangzhou”) as lessee entered into a lease
agreement (the “2020 Lease Agreement’) for the Group’s
production facilities, office premises and staff dormitory (“Leased
Premises”), which are located at 468 Guanghua 3rd Road,
Bawang Industrial Complex, Baiyun District. The 2020 Lease
Agreement was for an original term from 1 December 2020 to
30 November 2021.

On 28 April 2021, Guangzhou Bawang as lessor and Bawang
Guangzhou as lessee entered into a lease renewal agreement
(“2021 Lease Agreement”) pursuant to which Guangzhou
Bawang has agreed to lease to Bawang Guangzhou Leased
Premises at a monthly rental of RMB1,090,000 for the period
from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 and RMB1,240,000 for the
period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 for a fixed term of five
years, which is exclusive of management fees and other
outgoings.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

On 1 September 2022, Bawang Guangzhou and Guangzhou
Bawang entered into a supplemental lease agreement (the “2022
Supplemental Lease Agreement”) to reduce the area leased
within the Leased Premises, which took effect from 1
September 2022, at a monthly rental of RMB829,542 for the
period from 1 September 2022 to 30 June 2024 and
RMB943,699 for the period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026,
which is exclusive of management fees and other outgoings.

In accordance with IFRS 16 (Leases), the premises leased
under the 2021 Lease Agreement has been recognised by the
Group as right-of-use assets with a book value of approximately
RMB52,884,000 as at 1 July 2021. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the 2021 Lease Agreement has been
treated as an acquisition of right-of-use assets which
constituted a discloseable and connected transaction of the
Group under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of the 2021 Lease Agreement had been disclosed in the
Company’s circular dated 23 April 2021, and the 2021 Lease
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder had
been approved by the independent shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 4 June 2021. The 2021
Lease Agreement then superseded the 2020 Lease Agreement
upon the 2021 Lease Agreement becoming effective on 1 July
2021.

As of 1 September 2022, being the effective date of the 2022
Supplemental Lease Agreement, the Leased Premises as a
right-of-use asset had a book value of approximately
RMB33,816,000, and the entering into of the 2022
Supplemental Lease Agreement constituted a variation to the
terms of previously disclosed 2021 Lease Agreement pursuant
to Rule 14.36 and the note to Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
Details of the 2022 Supplemental Lease Agreement together
with the implications under IFRS 16 (Leases) had been
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 1 September
2022.
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As Guangzhou Bawang is beneficially owned as to 20% by Mr.
CHEN Zheng He, the chief executive officer and an executive
director of the Company, and 80% by his six brothers and
sisters (who are children of Mr. CHEN Qiyuan) with Mr. CHEN
Zheng He as the trustee, Guangzhou Bawang is an associate of
Mr. CHEN Zheng He and a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the lease payments
were paid by BaWang Guangzhou to Guangzhou Bawang
pursuant to the 2021 Lease Agreement (as amended by the
2022 Supplemental Lease Agreement) approximately RMB9.5
million.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the above connected transactions. The Company further
confirms that the related party transactions that are set out in Note
32 under the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” in this annual report fall within the definition of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and these
transactions complied with the relevant connected transaction
requirements thereunder.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ interests in
contracts of significance

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions” in this annual report, no
Director or controlling shareholder, or an entity connected with a
Director or a controlling shareholder has or had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
which was subsisting during or at the end of the 2023 financial year.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ interest in
competing business

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or the controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company had
any interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Retirement schemes

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement
plans which cover the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and a
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong.
Particulars of these retirement plans are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. There was no
forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution payable by
the Group under the above schemes.

Corporate governance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors are of the view
that all the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules were met by the Company.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has reviewed the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 with the
management of the Company and the Company’s independent
auditors and recommended its adoption by the Board.

Auditors

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

CHEN Qiyuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Directors and Senior Management

ESNEEEEAE

Directors

During the year under review, the Board consisted of six Directors,
including three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth certain information
in respect of our serving Directors:

s

REBEEERN EFEHASEFA
B BECRAGTEFR=RBIIEH
TEE TEBIMRECEENET
a8

Name Age Position/Title

%" & Fir B A, AT

Mr. CHEN Qiyuan 62 Chairman and Executive Director

PR BUR 55 4 ITERATESR

Mr. CHEN Zheng He 35 CEO and Executive Director
FRIEBSSE 4 BEERITERNTES

Mr. WONG Sin Yung 69 Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
BEERELE BEEMBERMNTES

Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing 69 Independent non-executive Director
RIEZERTAE BYFRTES

Dr. WANG Qi 44 Independent non-executive Director
ITmiEt BYFRTES

Dr. LIU Jing 44 Independent non-executive Director
2EE+ BYFATER

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, aged 62, is the co-founder of our Group, our
chairman and has been our executive Director since 12 November
2007. Mr. CHEN is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
management of our Group. Mr. CHEN has extensive experience in
the Chinese herbal HPC product industry, having been engaged in
the consumer chemical product business for over 30 years. Mr.
CHEN entered into the HPC product business by establishing
Guangzhou Bawang Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (the predecessor entity of
the Company) in 1994. Mr. CHEN was engaged in the trading of
pesticides in the PRC before the establishment of Guangzhou
Bawang Cosmetics Co., Ltd.. In November of 2010, Mr. CHEN
Qiyuan was recognised as the “Representative Successor of Chinese
Herbal Tea Culture” by the Guangdong Provincial Bureau of Culture.
In December 2013, Mr. CHEN Qiyuan had been honoured as the
“Distinguished People of Yunfu City” for recognition of his contribution
to the development of the city. Mr. CHEN is the father of Mr. CHEN
Zheng He, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. CHEN is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company,
and he is also a director of Fortune Station Limited and Heroic Hour
Limited, the controlling shareholders of the Company,
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Zheng He, aged 35, was appointed as our executive
Director on 20 October 2014. Mr. CHEN joined the Group in March
2007 and has been officially appointed as a director of Bawang
Guangzhou and afterwards certain other subsidiaries of the Group
since then and started to involve in the planning of sales, marketing,
advertising and promotion campaigns of Bawang Guangzhou. Mr.
CHEN was appointed as the personal assistant to the chief executive
officer of the Company since March 2012, mainly responsible for the
daily administration and management of Bawang Guangzhou. Since
mid-2013, Mr. CHEN has also been responsible for the supervision
and execution of sales, marketing, advertising and promotion
campaigns of Bawang Guangzhou. Mr. CHEN works closely with the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company on
formulating overall strategic plan and management of the Group, and
executing strategic plans in marketing, and sales and distribution. Mr.
CHEN has been appointed as the CEO and Remuneration Committee
Member with effect from 9 December 2015. Mr. CHEN obtained the
degree of bachelor of commerce from the University of Toronto in
2012. Mr. CHEN is the son of Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, the chairman and
an executive Director of the Company.

Mr. WONG Sin Yung, aged 69, is our Chief Financial Officer and
executive Director. Mr. WONG joined our Group in April 2008 and
was appointed as our executive Director on 10 December 2008. Mr.
WONG was also appointed as our Chief Financial Officer and our
Company Secretary since December 2008. He is responsible for the
finance management and control, accounting, auditing, company
secretarial and investor relations of our Group. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. WONG was an executive director of China Ting Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03398), from 2005 to 2008, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. WONG was
the chief accountant and finance manager of Mark Wong &
Associates (Industrial Consultants) Limited from 1988 to 1992 and
from 1994 to 2003 respectively. He also worked for a certified public
accountant firm from 1992 to 1994. Mr. WONG has over 30 years
experience in corporate finance, accounting, auditing, corporation
administration, and project consulting. He is an associate member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. WONG
obtained a master’s degree in human resource management from
Macquarie University in 1996 and a master’s degree in business
administration from The University of Hong Kong in 1999.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEUNG Kin Wing (5RZZ%E 5t 4), aged 69, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 13 November 2014. Mr.
CHEUNG has extensive experience in information technology,
financial accounting, auditing and management. Mr. CHEUNG is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Since February 1999, Mr. CHEUNG has been a director and
lead consultant of Sunplex Consultants Limited, a company providing
human resources management and information technology
consultancy services to its clients (including government organisations
and private companies). Mr. CHEUNG had been an independent
director of Principal Trust Company (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as AXA China Region Trustees Limited) from August 1999 to
August 2015 an independent non-executive director of Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited from November 2003 to January
2018 and Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (Stock Code:
01710) from February 2017 to May 2022. Mr. CHEUNG has been an
independent non-executive director of ENM Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 00128) since June 2016, and Kin Pang Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 01722) since November 2017, companies whose shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr CHEUNG
joined Self Strengthening Service Centre Limited (B 5& iRTEH OB R
/x#]), which is a company limited by guarantee and an approved
charitable organization, as a director on a voluntary basis with effect
from 30 September 2019. Mr. CHEUNG had held several positions,
including Assistant Manager, Manager and Senior Manager between
September 1980 and July 1991 in Coopers & Lybrand. Mr. CHEUNG
had been a partner of Coopers & Lybrand since March 1995, and
had been a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers since Coopers &
Lybrand was merged with Price Waterhouse into
PricewaterhouseCoopers in October 1998 until his resignation in May
1999. Mr. CHEUNG was Director of Operations and Finance of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants between July 2004 and
April 2008 and a consultant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants between April 2008 and August 2008. Mr. CHEUNG
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Calgary in
Canada in June 1979.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Dr. WANG Qi (EX¥fEXL), aged 44, was appointed as an
Independent Director of the Company on 17 April 2018. Dr. WANG
is currently the vice director of the Dongguan Institute of Opto-
electronics, Peking University. Prior to that, from 2010 to 2012, he
was a research associate in the Department of Electronic and
Electrical Engineering of the University of Sheffield in the United
Kingdom, and also worked at Seren Photonics Ltd, a company in the
United Kingdom which focuses on the development and
manufacturing of semi-polar and non-polar Gallium Nitride templates.
From 2012 to 2014, he was a postdoctoral research fellow in the
Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering of McGill
University in Canada.

Dr. WANG is a member of the Dongguan committee of the Jiusan
Society, the chairman of the Songshan Lake branch of the Dongguan
committee of the Jiusan Society, a vice chairman of the technological
innovation promotion committee of the Dongguan Committee of the
Jiusan Society, an entrepreneurship mentor of the Dongguan
Business Incubation Association and a member of the Dongguan
Songshan Lake High-tech Industry Development Zone Science and
Technology Association. He is also the legal representative and an
executive director of the Dongguan Yanyuan Technological Assets
Management Company Limited. Dr. WANG has been elected as a
member of the 14th session of Dongguan’s Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative (TEARECAHE SRS
THERZETEZEEZE8) in 2022. He was recognised as a special
professional of Dongguan City (3rd Class Distinctive Talent) by the
Office for the Administration of Talent Affairs of Dongguan City in
2017.

Dr. WANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in physics (magnetism) from
Lanzhou University in 2001. He studied at the Department of Physics
of Peking University from 2002 to 2008. He obtained a Doctor of
Philosophy in the Faculty of Engineering Department of Electronic
and Electrical Engineering from the University of Sheffield in the
United Kingdom in 2010.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENGEEEAE(E)

Dr. LIU Jing (2l L), aged 44, is currently the Associate
Professor and the supervisor of postgraduate of the School of
Accounting, Guangdong University of Finance & Economics. Prior to
that, from 2013 to 2019, she had successively served as a full-time
teacher, the director of laboratory and the Deputy Dean in the School
of Accounting and Finance, Beijing Institute of Technology, Zhuhai.
From 2009 to 2013, she worked for Beijing Focus Marketing
Consultant Co., Ltd. (JtRBELHEEMBRAR]), a company
providing consulting services of strategic positioning in China.

Dr. LIU is currently a review expert of the expert team for Zhuhai
Assets & Equity Exchange Service (BB AR P LT BEERE),
a vice chairman of School-Enterprise Alliance for China Accounting
Education Transformation Development (Bl €3t B E A ER D
B4 B8), a business mentor of Zhuhai Science and Technology Business
Entrepreneur Alliance (FR8mEHXAIZE 1% E) and a business
mentor of Zhuhai Employment and Business Entrepreneur
Association (FR/ET L E A EH D).

Dr. LIU obtained a bachelor’'s degree in management from Hunan
Business College (currently known as Hunan University of Technology
and Business) in 2001. She completed a study of Advanced Studies
Course for Postgraduate in Accounting (& 5+E£2 5 3195 4 sR 124 (S TT)
at Central University of Finance and Economics in 2010 and then
obtained a master’s degree in management (part-time) in 2012. In
2019, Dr. LIU obtained a doctorate degree in management from The
Macau University of Science and Technology.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

i%};vv

TO THE MEMBERS OF
BAWANG INTERNATIONAL (GROUP) HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BaWang
International (Group) Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 75 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B EERE ()

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of trade receivables

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 103 to 107.

The key audit matter
HRERER

FREXSER

RERMANEXHE BREZZFEAR
ATBERARGEEVBRRPREEN
FE -ATTEERBERESMBHRRM
HETKERSRBESEEE 1A g
RULEFREFEREL -

BB ERAOFMR
2GR AV MR F22FMEI03EEF
107TEMEZ SR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTFNEERLE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade
receivables of approximately RMB17,655,000, net of
accumulated impairment loss of approximately
RMB3,849,000.

R-ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H BE£EEZE5HEUKE
WEHANRE17,6550007T R MEZFEAD A
R #£ 3,849,000 7T °

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables is based
on expected credit losses (“ECL”), which is estimated by
taking into account the credit loss experience and
forward-looking information including both current and
forecast general economic conditions.

BIRUEEFRENREEEREREERLR(RE
HEEBRX]) EEETEERAERMATKLEE
BT E AT A TR R & AR BB A B AR 1R (R B R o

We have identified valuation of trade receivables as a
key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the impairment
assessment of trade receivables involved a significant
degree of management judgement and may be subject
to management bias.

RIEE S BN ERGRET BT SERENE
H RALESEEETRET G RERENE
R &R A G RIREMER -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
assumptions and judgements of the Group’s ECL model
on impairment assessment of trade receivables.

BB 5 1L 4E B T2 8 5 5 A R HOR 1
S T8 2 1 AR AR A R 1 A £

We have assessed the reasonableness of management’s
estimates for impairment allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including testing accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information.

HAEERREREERMMELD LA ENER B
AAELRZOBEMNERE FEELBAXXEELR
1R IR R B A IR K A B B RHE B E S B R ET
HEEBGIRERGENSIENE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 99.

The key audit matter
BREEZSEHE

B % S A S (F)

FR{EE
S2HEEMBRRME20MEQEN
SRR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTFNEERLE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had inventories of
approximately RMB25,831,000, net of accumulated
allowance of approximately RMB1,102,000.

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H E£EBEFE
25,831,000 * 2/ FEEAH AR KA

7T|:o

AR
,102,000

We have identified valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of significant
judgement and estimation on the assessment of the net
realisable values with reference to the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions.

BAEFEENHEFGEESBARESFSTHE IS
Eﬁ&%é%%ﬁ%#%%ﬁﬁ AR 2 E &HTH
?FﬁﬂEWMW%M#T W N B R 23R F

BENFENEARHEHMHEE

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
management’s estimations and judgements on the
assessment of net realisable value of inventories and
identification of obsolete item based on their subsequent
usage and selling prices subsequent to the end of the
reporting period and current market conditions.

ﬁﬁ%%%%%ﬁfaﬁ%ﬁ”ﬁFﬁTTMT -------
ST (B 5 R0 RIBT - AR08 B MAEIE B M7k G ARG
ﬁﬁm%ﬂ'u&%%ﬁﬁﬁimﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁmm
AR -

We have assessed the net realisable value and utilisation
of inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting
period on a sample basis and discussed with the
management in respect of the adequacy of the allowance
made based on subsequent usage and sales, ageing
analysis and current market conditions. We have also
assessed the assumptions and critical judgements used
by the management by assessing the reliability of the
management’s past estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B EERE ()

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on page 110.

The key audit matter
HRERSER

VE BERRGEMNEAEIENR
=

DREGRAMBRERFP W FI7MMI8RE
OB EE SR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTFNEERLE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB34,575,000, net of
accumulated impairment losses of approximately
RMB103,657,000, and right-of-use assets of
approximately RMB22,573,000.

BIE—ZT-_=%+_A=+—B XxEENYX"
BB KR D RIA) /A RK34,575,0007T » F R E
WMEBKXL R/ ARK103,657,000 T MEAEEELD
AR #22,573,0007T °

We have identified impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the determination of the recoverable
amount of these assets required significant management
judgement relating to items such as level of revenue and
amount of operating costs and discount rate.

BRNEERTTHE BERRENEAEEED
REEABRECTEE BALMNYGA YRS
BB FELAENTRESBORTER S
BIER#EMEAKT  EERASBERNTINENE
Nl R

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
reasonableness of the selection of valuation model,
adoption of key assumptions and input data by reference
to the historical information. In particular, we have tested
the future cash flow forecast prepared by management on
whether it is agreed to the budget approved by the board
of directors and compared the budget with actual results
available up to the report date. We have also evaluated
the appropriateness of the assumptions, including the
sales growth rates and gross profit margin against latest
market expectations.

BARANEAREFEEHREELEEEEMRE
BE - EHERBERMBABRBNSEEETHME -
Frl RACKEAATRXNAESRERN EF8
EERBEENHEYEARATBIREAHHRE
FEERBELET TR AP ELEFRFERIRNOE
B BREEEREMEMNXESZH TFOTHEHE
H o

We have also evaluated the discount rate employed in the
calculation of value-in-use by reviewing its basis of
calculation and comparing its input data to market
sources.

BPBABENAESENBLEGABEBENTESE A
RIE wEHFAETRAAAEEREENTRE -

As any changes in these assumptions and input to
valuation model may result in significant financial impact,
we have tested management’s sensitivity analysis in
relation to the key inputs to the impairment assessment.

HRELBRIMEERLG ANTAZ(EAIESE
HELABEANMBEE BMACKARATEEEESR
EREFENTIERARBANGERESN -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company
and the Audit and Risk Management
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEMBRE ()

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEMBRE ()

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
28 March 2024

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023

AiTBBRERLAERREEZESS
BoERLERARGEE P B RREN
THENKEEER HBEAREZFE K
FERBER IR ARAKBEULEFTEE
FEBREANBERAT  ATRAEEU
FERACEAHNTIRERGBAR
FRABZUEFTENNEMABERS T
TURE BARTEERBEMBSEP
Wttt FEE -

BENERERERRBUILBAMBRS
MEBABARERRRESLL -

FEXRBH (BB EHHEBRERAA
BE DA

EER

HEBEYRE  P05591

&8
—E-NE=/=-+/)\H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

VAN
=

For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

NE 2w Y am &

2023 2022
—E-= T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B &E AR®ET T AR T T
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue g 7 237,653 246,341
Cost of sales 55 & B AR (117,935) (153,822)
Gross profit EF 119,718 92,519
Other income E A 8 2,907 3,565
Selling and distribution costs $HE R KA (81,106) (83,507)
Administrative expenses THRAX (27,602) (32,379)
Reversal of impairment losses 2 5 kW R E
recognised in respect of trade 18 25 o] #
receivables 22 1,148 2,993
Other expenses HAak X (183) (524)
Operating profit/(loss) & RIE,(E518) 14,882 (17,333)
Finance costs BEER 9 (1,338) (2,098)
Profit/(loss) before taxation Al FE (EE) 13,544 (19,431)
Income tax credit FRiS i % 10 83 110
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to N2 BB A FE(E 2
owners of the Company ERNFE(EE) 11 13,627 (19,321)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) E #b HA A 2 & Y A
Item that will not be reclassified TEeWEN D HEBER
subsequently to profit or loss: BIIEH -
Exchange differences arising on Ko gEEme L
translation of financial statements R EHEN Z58
from functional currency to
presentation currency (441) (404)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive A&~ X Rl B A (S E R
income/(expense) for the year AE (BB e
attributable to owners of the WA (X H) @
Company 13,186 (19,725)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER(FHE) 14
Basic FH K RMBO0.4309 cent RMB(0.6110) cent
AR#0.430911 A K¥(0.6110)1L
Diluted #E RMBO0.4309 cent RMB(0.6110) cent
AR¥0.43091 AR (0.6110)1L

BIER(RE)ZRERLT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BB R R

As at 31 December 2023 R=—Z==F+=-HA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022 1 January 2022
—EBCZ= —E- —E-C

+=A=+-H +T-A=t+—H —A—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3E AR T ARETTT ARETTL
(Restated) (Restated)
=27) (E5)

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERERE 17 34,575 40,515 61,938
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 22,573 31,301 52,211
Deferred tax assets ERFEHEE 19 379 296 186
Time deposit THER 23 30,000 50,000 50,000
87,527 122,112 164,335

Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 20 25,831 27,056 40,815
Right to returned goods asset REGEZER 21 719 737 795
Trade and other receivables B REMmBUERR 22 27,984 20,214 26,308
Amount due from a related party JFE L B B - - 242
Time deposit EHER - = 4,000
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERSE 23 88,272 74,404 59,269
142,806 122,411 131,429
Current liabilities REAE

Trade and other payables B REMENER 24 59,411 79,640 83,527
Amount due to a related party S BE R 7 7008 = - 22
Contract liabilities AWEE 25 5,225 4,261 11,233
Refund liabilities BERE 26 1,092 1,030 1,150
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 9,208 8,173 10,137
Provision HRER - - 338
74,936 93,104 106,407
Net current assets REBEERE 67,870 29,307 25,022
Total assets less current liabilites EEFERABAS 155,397 151,419 189,357

Non-current liability ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 15,895 25,103 43,316
Net assets BEFE 139,502 126,316 146,041
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

SR BBIRRE (E)

As at 31 December 2023 R=E==F+=-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2023 2022 1 January 2022
—EZ= —E-C g

+=A=+t-H +ZA=+—H —A—H

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

k=3 ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT

(Restated) (Restated)

(E5) (E5)

Capital and reserves BRARF#E

Share capital RN 28(a) 271,932 277,932 277,932
Reserves 1t 28(0) (138,430) (151,616) (131,891)
Total equity Enesm 139,502 126,316 146,041

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 167 were H75F167EEMNGA B REALESS
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 M- -_MWME=A -+ \ B ET HE

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: REEEREZT:
Mr. CHEN Qiyuan Mr. CHEN Zheng He
PR BSR PR IE 88
Director Director
EFE EFE

BIER(RE)ZRERLT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GAEREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENGE $532- DN 3
Share Share  Statutory Merger Translation Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserves reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BE  RAEE ZTRE SHRE EXRHE HtRe RitEE RRAE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(note 28(b))  (note 28(b))  (note 28(b))  (note 28(b))  (note 28(b))
(MiE28(0) (PIFE28(b) (MisE2s()) (PIFE28(b) (FisE28(0))
At 1 January 2022 RZE-=-%—-H—-H
(as originally stated) (B3IF) 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8468 (32,891) 9,421 (1568,777) 145,855
Effect of change in accounting SHBREE W&
policies (note 2) (P u£2) - - = = = = 186 186
At 1 January 2022 (as restated) —E--f%—-f-H
(iﬁw 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8,468 (32,891) 9,421 (1,668,591) 146,041
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (19,431) (19,431)
Other comprehensive expense for ~ E 4t 2 & % H
the year
Exchange differences arising on WEBBREZ
translation of financial statements [ ¥ =&
from functional currency to
presentation currency - - - - (404) = = (404)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ FRZEKA/(ZH)
the year BE - - - - (404) - (19,431) (19,835)
At 31 December 2022 RZF==
(as originally stated) +ZA=+—8
(BFI7R) 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8,468 (33,295) 9,421 (1,588,208) 126,020
Effect of changes in accounting CHBRRENTE
policies (note 2) (M3E2) = = = = - - 296 296
At 31 December 2022 (as restated) HN-Z ==
+-A=+-8
(&%) 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8,468 (33,295) 9,421 (1,687,912 126,316
At 1 January 2023 (as restated) —E-=f%—-f-H
( %)) 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8,468 (33,295) 9,421 (1,587,912) 126,316
Profit for the year FERNHE - - - - - - 13,627 13,627
Other comprehensive expense for ~ E {2 & 3 H
the year
Exchange differences arising on NEBBREZ
translation of financial statements ~ [E ¥ =&
from functional currency to
presentation currency - - - - (441) = = (441)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ ER2E(ZH)/ KA
income for the year ok - - - - (441) - 13,627 13,186
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F
+-A=+—H 277,932 1,401,815 49,887 8,468 (33,736) 9,421 (1,574,285) 139,502
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/T

IE%/)ILE%‘:Z

For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—EBC-=F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEH)
Profit/(loss) before taxation AT EE 13,544 (19,431)
Adjustments for: BTAEL T -
Bank interest income RITH B WA (1,627) (1,959
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in BEEME - WENMKE
respect of trade receivables B R (B [B] £ (1,148) (2,993)
Gain on waiver of account payable JE 11 BR A o W a8 (644) (204)
Government grants BT 4 B (436) (168)
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for inventories CEEZER) FERE (137) 11
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEERE 8,728 10,611
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME WMEMEREITE 7,890 21,911
Finance costs MEER 1,338 2,098
Bad debt written off B H T & R 730 1,718
Loss on disposals of property, plant and BEEW % B K ER 1
equipment BK 159 461
Reversal of impairment losses in respect of Y BE R&RERE
property, plant and equipment Bk z B # — (291)
Gain on lease modification MEBE 2 W= - (529)
Gain on waiver of legal cost EEBARE WG - (338)
Operating cash flows before working capital BEEEBBFAIEEES
changes = 28,397 10,897
Decrease in inventories FER D 1,362 13,748
Decrease in right to returned goods asset EE [EIREN= ol ¥ /JX 2 18 58
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables & 5 & E b fE I 7k
(3% 0),/ R (7,172) 8,919
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & H Ath B FRIE R (19,585) (2,399)
Decrease in amount due to a related party & Uk B8 B 5 sk TR R L n - (22)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AR AFEEMN Gk ) 964 (6,972)
Increase/(decrease) in refund liabilities BEABEN R 62 (120)
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS AND & E4XHNHRERNL
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHELENRSTFE 4,046 24,113
BIER(EE)EZERERAT —ZE=FF%#
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

n‘/T\ IE@UILE%% (/éﬁg)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR F T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Withdrawal of a time deposit TR HUE HR 5 3K 50,000 1,000
Placement of a time deposit 5 E HiTE 3% (30,000) =
Bank interest received B YER1TH B 1,447 459
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and BEYE BERZHED
equipment Fr 58 3} 38 167 86
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE WMEMKE (2,265) (1,964)
Repayment from a related party BB 5 EIE K IE = 242
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING REZHELE (AW
ACTIVITIES BEFHE 19,349 (177)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEES
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (8,173) (9,349)
Interest paid 2 F B (1,338) (2,098)
Government grants received e B B F‘T M ® 436 168
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®EZEBHMFANESEH (9,075) (11,279)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH HeRBESEEYWEINFEEE
EQUIVALENTS 14,320 12,657
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENZHRERESEZEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 74,404 62,269
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE Exgmze
CHANGES (452) (522)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATENDOF REXKBRERBELZEY
THE YEAR (note 23) (Bff 52 23) 88,272 74,404
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R B A

For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

General

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is Fortune
Station Limited (“Fortune Station”), which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and is owned as to: (1) 49.57%
by Heroic Hour Limited, a company that is beneficially owned
as to 22.00% by Mr. CHEN Zheng He, the chief executive
officer and an executive director of the Company, and 78.00%
by Mr. CHEN Zheng He’s six brothers and sisters; and (2)
50.43% by Mr. CHEN Qiyuan, the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company (the “Directors”).

The address of the registered office is at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is at
Bawang Industrial Park, 468 Guanghua 3rd Road, Baiyun
District, Guangzhou, 510450, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
manufacturing and sales of the household and personal care
products.

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
principal subsidiaries of the Group where the primary economic
environment is in the PRC. Other than the subsidiaries
established in the PRC which functional currencies are RMB,
the functional currency of the Company and other subsidiaries
is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

n‘/T\

SR BHKRMEE (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new and amendments to International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January
2023:

IFRS 17 (including the June  Insurance Contracts
2020 and December 2021

amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Fe B mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“|FRS(S)”) (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS 12
— Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning liabilities.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at that date. For all other
transactions, the amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The Group previously applied IAS 12 requirements to the
relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Upon application of the amendments, the Group
has recognised a separate deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.
The Group recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at the beginning of the earliest period
presented. This change in accounting policy did not have any
impact on the cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2. ERFEIREIEETBERE
International Financial Reporting Standards 7 3 &5 %€ B ([ B BR Bf 7% 3R
(“IFRS(s)”) (Continued) HFEA ) )

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS 12 FEHEESERFE125 (&
— Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities ) - HE—THELENEER
arising from a Single Transaction (Continued) EEHANEZRENEE (5)
The effects of change in accounting policies as a result of FERBEE e ERSE129% ([B5])
application of amendments to IAS 12 on the consolidated BEYN ST RREHHEEERE
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income FEMEZEWERMEREF (&
and earnings/(loss) per share, are as follows: BT ENT
2023 2022
—E_=F —_ZEF-_=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR® T T
Impact on profit/(loss) for the year ¥f 7 & E FI38, (& 1#8)
b2
Increase in income tax credit i FEFT 1S R IR 2 38 00 83 110
Increase in profit/(loss) for the year REERE(Fi8)
HY 12 A0 83 110
Increase in profit/(loss) for the year HEABEERFE
attributable to owners of the (E18) B9 1L hn
Company 83 110
Impact on basic and diluted HEREAREH
earnings/(loss) per share B/ (BRNEE
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per  FHEEATE IR E AR L #E RMBO0.4283 cent  RMB(0.6144) cent
share before adjustment BF,(EE) ARK¥0.428310 AR (0.6144)1L
Adjustment arising from change in B FE F B B 2 5t 2 B
accounting policy in relation to 125 (BF) B S
application of amendments to IAS 12 (s # B Fr 3| A2 B RMBO0.0026 cent RMBO0.0034 cent
B A R #0.0026 1L A R #0.003411
Reported basic and diluted earnings/ B RESTFRER & RMB0.4309 cent  RMB(0.6110) cent
(loss) per share BERA(&EE) AR®0.43091 AR (0.6110)1L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to 2. ERAMFI REIEEERE
International Financial Reporting Standards 7 3 &5 %€ B ([ B BR Bf 7% 3R
(“IFRS(s)”) (Continued) HFEA]) )
Impact on application of Amendments to IAS 12 ERHEREEERNFE125K (&
— Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities ) —EEBE—TSELENHNEER
arising from a Single Transaction (Continued) EEHANEZRENEE (H)
The effects of change in accounting policies as a result of FERBEE e ERSE129% ([B5])
application of amendments to IAS 12 on the consolidated BYMSHABRREYH L —PK=
statements of financial position at the end of the immediately 2 T ZEFE+ZA=1t—"HEEH®#R
preceding financial year, 31 December 2022, and the beginning FEAMBRIER & J:l; B EIEA 1))
of the comparative period, 1 January 2022, are as follows: —E-_F—-—A—BHFENT:
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 Adjustment 2022
R-==-— R-E=-Z
+=-A=+-A #AE +-A=t-H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT
(originally stated) (restated)
(R37R) (&31)
Deferred tax assets ERFIEHEE = 296 296
Total effect on net assets HFEENRARE = 296 296
Reserves fEiE (151,912) 296 (151,616)
Total effect on equity HEZNEY (151,912) 296 (151,616)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2.
International Financial Reporting Standards

(“|FRS(S)”) (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS 12
— Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction (Continued)
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i {5 48 BR A9 5E 3R IR 69§ (1)

As at As at

1 January 2022 Adjustment 1 January 2022

i —— 3 i

—HA—H AR —HA—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARBTT

(originally stated) (restated)

(R3I7R) (Z51)

Deferred tax assets ERFIEHEE = 186 186
Total effect on net assets HFEENERE — 186 186
Reserves ] (132,077 186 (131,891)
Total effect on equity HESNEY (132,077) 186 (131,891)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“|FRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current!

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements'
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Directors anticipate that, the application of amendments to
IFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of these elements of control stated above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All'intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

The Group recognised revenue from the sales of goods
including (i) hair-care products; (i) skin-care products; and (iii)
other household and personal care products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customers and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products.

Right of return

When a contract provides a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the consideration received from
the customer is variable because the contract allows the
customer to return the products. The Group uses the expected
value method to estimate the goods that will be returned. For
goods expected to be returned, the Group presents a refund
liability as “Refund liabilities” and an asset for the right to recover
products from a customer as “Right to returned goods asset”.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of IFRS16, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date, as appropriate. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased assets are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

° the lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments
change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in
which case a revised discount rate is used).

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated
over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit/(loss) for the
year. Taxable profit/(loss) differs from profit/(loss) before taxation
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than properties under
construction are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress and immature bearer plants less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(Continued)

Bearer plants are classified as immature until the produce can
be commercially harvested. At that point, immature bearer
plants are reclassified to bearer plants and depreciation
commences. Immature bearer plants are measured at
accumulated costs.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the weighted
average method, and include expenditure incurred in acquiring
the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
In case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost
includes an appropriate share of the production overheads
based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value of
inventories represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and
bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand
deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-
term (generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather for investment or
other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdraft
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on
the classification of the financial assets. The Group’s financial
assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (‘ECL”), through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “Other income” line item (note 8).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised
cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic; or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the debt instrument has a low risk of
default, (i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in
accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entty are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (i) held-for-trading, or (iii)
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right of use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and right of use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

4.

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

B9 % S 5T ¥ B A fh 5 T 5
EEZZEERIR
i3

NS A MY GES AT At 2 & &t I
RE  ARBEFANXFTEE
BE BANZHBEREESTB
ﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁyﬁﬁﬂﬁ fl &t &
BE-ZFHARBAERRIRE
EEREKBRIERSHBE  HM
AEMEL - BERAEREM[ET A B
HIRERZE o

ZEGBREERRRSEEEE
f—_f%&j EE‘I—/‘EE‘I—Zf?ETEE/\\{}Eﬁ
BRI Mt 2 HIE AR (W ER

SZHHE) KRBT HIE R AR K
e 7 58 ({18 5T %2 2 7 B} R 2K 3
)

G FREERRZERRE

REBRMARAREMEA BT
ABRENETERRMAELENEE
BER HEBREABET —@EH
BREENEENBEREMERLEE
RABORER  JIHET -

—ECCFEER

111



112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

n‘/T\

SR BHKRMEE (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILtFE

Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment of trade receivables is based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience, existing market conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operated and forward-looking information at the
end of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment
and it may be necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. At 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of trade receivables was approximately RMB17,655,000
(2022: RMB14,281,000), net of allowance for impairment of
trade receivables of approximately RMB3,849,000 (2022:
RMB4,997,000). During the year ended 31 December 2023,
reversal of impairment loss of trade receivables of approximately
RMB1,148,000 (2022: RMB2,993,000) was recognised.
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Valuation of inventories

The Group makes the allowance for inventories based on
assessments of the net realisable value and ageing analysis of
inventories and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The
management estimates the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately RMB25,831,000 (2022:
RMB27,056,000), net of accumulated allowance of
approximately RMB1,102,000 (2022: RMB1,239,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2023, obsolete inventories
written-off and reversal of allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB798,000 (2022: RMB1,961,000) and
RMB137,000 (2022: allowance for inventories of approximately
RMB11,000) were recognised, respectively.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

The future cash flow is estimated based on past performance
and expectation for market development. As the current
environment is uncertain, the estimated cash flows and discount
rate are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainty.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets were approximately
RMB34,575,000 and RMB22,573,000 (2022: RMB40,515,000
and RMB31,301,000) respectively. Reversal of impairment
losses in respect of property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMB291,000 (2023: nil) has been recognised in
2022. No impairment losses were recognised for property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment on a
straight-line basis between the rates of 4% to 50% per annum,
commencing from the date the property, plant and equipment
are available for use. The estimated useful lives that the Group
places the property, plant and equipment into productive use
reflects the Directors’ estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying values of property, plant and equipment was
approximately RMB34,575,000 (2022: RMB40,515,000).
Depreciation of approximately RMB7,890,000 (2022:
RMB21,911,000) has been recognised for the current year.
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used
and temporary deductible differences. As those deferred tax
assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
unused tax credits can be utilised, management judgement is
required to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management’s assessment is constantly reviewed and deferred
tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Capital Risk Management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of
time deposit, bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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6. Financial Instruments 6. €T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments () €MIAER
2023 2022
—E_=8F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TE

Financial assets TREE

At amortised cost (including cash BN A (BIEEESM

and cash equivalents) REZEEY) 136,521 141,221

Financial liabilities EHMAE

At amortised cost =3I IN 57,216 75,661

(b) Financial risk management objective and (b) EMEAREEERERBE

policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include time REBZFTES T AEBRE
deposit, trade and other receivables, bank balances and THER B NEMEIKR
cash and trade and other payables. Details of the financial T8 FEUREEE: IR SR1T 4
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks ZhBEE B NEMENK
associated with these financial instruments include market BREMNBE FREBE %545
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and BMTEZABERZSH A IE
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks BoHZESsMTAEEBRRE
are set out below. The management manages and e B EmEREE (SR MM
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures FZEEAK) - EERM ETE T
are implemented on a timely and effective manner. BB o NS E A a0 o] PR K 3% &

BB R - EREEENME
2RERR LEERER RS
R ER BXUE E HE B
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objective and

@I A @@

b) eMEREEERRBE

policies (Continued) (#8)
Market risk h % & B
Currency risk B %R b

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 2% (2022: 2%) of the Group’s sales is
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entity making the sale. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
The Group will monitor foreign exchange exposure and
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

AKARIETZEMEB AR ZH
ERIINEHE AEEREAME
HINERR - ANEBH2% (=
T F 2% ZHENUEHE
ERMEEE AN EEE
8- A% BB At & T [ 5 EE
HABK AEBESEEIE
Bk mELER TEZE
¥ B K HMNE BB -

AEBUINEIHEY W EE
REBREBSMK EEME
mF -

Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2023 2022 2023 2022
—=E_-= g —E_-= =z
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TRT

ARBTRT AR®BTT

RMB AR 525 1,727 7,653 7,617
HK$ BT 1,781 649 1,256 1,067
United States dollars (‘USD”) 2= 7t ([Z£ 7T ) 1,019 2,601 - -

In the opinion of the Directors, no sensitivity analysis is
presented because the risk is considered insignificant.

REEFMNER BRAR
KRR TEE A EZIH

RE DT o

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group is exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances (see
note 23). The management of the Group considered that
a reasonably possible change in interest rates would not
have a material impact to the Group’s result.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from time
deposit, trade and other receivables and bank balances
and cash. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. €T Bu@m

(b) Financial risk management objective and

b) EREREEEREKE

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the allowance for
impairment at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Management considered that other receivables to be low
credit risk and thus the allowance for impairment
recognised during the year was limited to 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies or with good
reputation.
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LB IRABEER . B¢
ELEIBEEHRAEEEREER
ke HEFE BEEMRAE
B/ EERERARKEE-

EEE%%%%@HE%EM
EERBRE  AUESF AR
R ﬁﬁﬁﬁ LR 1218 A 8
BHEREX-

HRRX ST REAESERNA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout the reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available, reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

° significant changes in the expected performance
and behavior of the borrower, including changes in
the payment status of borrowers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the borrower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. Financial Instruments

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

ma B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

(Continued)

(b)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

6. T A

erEREEERE BT
(#%)

15 5 B B2 (48)
KEEEERMO

AEERFHEERRTRR
BT HIER :

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
P | it BERHMEEBENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk 12-month ECL

of default or has not been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition

and that are not credit-impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)

BT Q%%T%Zt,%’vﬂ X EVHRER 12EABRAEEEE
VAR AE & = BMERMNMRARBELERE
g mﬁ(f’ﬁz%ﬁé"JE% 2%)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit-
significant increase in credit risk since initial impaired
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

R BR NEEEEHFIIBRRBREERR ERAHRAHBEEERE —
B ¥ & MR AR ERE L e ﬂié’f*iﬁf% AELEFEERE
WE (ERER22%E)

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer
to as Stage 3)

E 4 E-EZEEMHEZeREENARR AN BEHEEERE —
RenBRAELETNZER 228 CELEEERE
BENREERE(EREERIZE)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

i 2H E BRAEEADGREMBRAELR FHECEDME

B2 3T A RE W m A BE AR X

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

—ECCFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objective and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk by credit risk rating grades.

6. &ERtT

B (&)

=< g

b) EREREEEREKE

(#&)

15 5 B2 (48)
EEEERRYOE)

TRFNTAGREESREER
REEMASERARE 2K
EERBRERFEEERR -

2023 2022
—E-=HF B
Gross Gross
Internal 12-month or lifetime carrying Loss Net carrying carrying Loss  Net carrying
Notes credit rating ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
REBER  12BAE REEE REEE
st FPR ERARREEEA mE  BEEE REEE #E  REEHE  REFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTE ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®TR ARBTT ARBTR
Trade receivables 22 Note Lifetime ECL (not credit 21,504 (3,849) 17,655 19,278 (4,997) 14,281
impaired)
H 5 AR B ERBRHEERE
(RBEEEERE)
Other receivables 22 Performing  12-month ECL 594 - 594 2,536 — 2,536
H At fE UK 17 12EARBEEER
Time deposit, bank 23 Performing 12-month ECL 118,272 - 118,272 124,404 — 124,404
balances and
cash
EHER BT REAFRBEEER
RITHEBRES
140,370 (3,849) 136,521 146,218 (4,997) 141,221

Note: The Group has applied simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Details are set out in note 22.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. R T A wm)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

b) EREREEEREKE

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s concentration of
credit risk by geographical location is mainly in the PRC,
which accounted for 97% (2022: 99%) of the total trade
receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has concentration of
credit risk, as 16% (2022: 32%) of the total trade
receivables, which was due from the Group’s five largest
customers.

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when they fall due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group ensures that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash on demand to meet its liquidity requirement in the
short and longer term; this excludes the potential impact
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted, such as natural disasters.

(#&)
15 & W B (48)
EEEERRYOE)

$E@§mﬁﬁ§ﬂ“'%;

S FBERPFER BT
__¢+ A=+—8 &8
DEWER KRB LHIT% (=T =
ZF 1 99%) °

RZEBE-_=Z=F+_A=+—

H AEEBRAARF&EFEE
R BB E 5 WK B16%

(:%::E 1 32%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
and lease liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest

and principal cash flows.

6. =@ T A

(b) <& &t W B%
(#%)

e B0 1 R BR (#8)

TRFANAKREZHRITESR
BEMEHERBZNBRENS
ReZRNDERKEBEAE D
xMz&xFRAHPTRESCHE
BZRFBRAEREDE - &
wIFNTEERBEMEERRE
ZEBMAEUBEEEAHAE
“°%$”%ﬂ§&$%ﬁi

TEEERRBE

//w E ©
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year 2-5years Over 5 years cash flows amount
-FR ZERf BBEF RBeRME FEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR AR%®TR AR%®TxR
At31December2023 R=-TE==
+=ZA=t—-H
Non-derivative financial F{T4 2R A&
liability
Trade and other payables & 5 & H # J& {1
FE 57,216 - - 57,216 57,216
Lease liabilities HERE 10,163 16,298 270 26,731 25,103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

(c)

6. =BT H @
b) EREREEEREKE

policies (Continued) (#8)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BEMRE(E)
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year 2-5years Over 5 years cash flows amount
BEX, AR
—FR —ERE BERFE Benpesw RHEEA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT AR®ETR
At 31 December 2022 WR=-ZT==
+=ZR=+-H
Non-derivative ETEERAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 I E i J&
PR 75,661 — — 75,661 75,661
Lease liabilities HEAE 9,510 26,431 300 36,241 33,276

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of non-
current and current financial assets and current financial
liabilities recognised at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

approximate their fair values.

() LanRREFEZEMIA

RKRAREZRR ARGEEY
%#&%W/}lbiﬁiﬁﬂﬁ@&uwﬁ
EREEGER_T_=ZFR=
T__F+_A=t—H &

HEEELURAAEE-
FIEN(EEERARAT —B-=FFH
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Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of goods, net of
discounts and sales related taxes. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue for the year is as follows.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

me B mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

EXRERDIBESR

EEBEEHEABKITMMEEEREB
TERNBEERA SEFELEER
DA

2023 2022
—g—-= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%®Tr
Revenue from contracts with customers £ B B8 B % 3R &5 % Bl 55155
within the scope of IFRS 15 HEEAEFNEHKWA
Disaggregated by major products RIXEERNE
Manufacturing and sales of the household 5Kk & {E A # 32 B 4 HY
and personal care products HEEMBEE
Hair-care products EEEM 217,684 211,115
Skin-care products EEEM 25 87
Other household and personal care HEmRAREAEEER
products 19,944 35,139
237,653 246,341

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of recognition

BEVBANERERSH

2023 2022
—E—= -T2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®&ET T
Timing of revenue recognition KWABAHEE
At a point in time H— R 237,653 246,341

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance, focuses on types of goods delivered. The
Directors have chosen to organise the Group around differences
in products. The segments are managed separately as each
operating segment offers different products which require
different production information to formulate different strategies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with
customers

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the remaining
performance obligations will be recognised as revenue within
one year from the end of the reporting period. As permitted by
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

o Hair-care products

o Skin-care products

U Other household and personal care products

Operating segments including manufacture and sale of other
household and personal care products have been aggregated
into a single reporting segment after taking into account that
none of which are of a sufficient size to be reported separately.
The CODM is provided with segment information concerning
segment revenue and result. No analysis of segment assets or

segment liabilities is presented as they are not regularly
provided to the CODM.

7.

EEHERDEHER @

XHRESEKREFSRAMNH

BHE-_Z-_=Ff+-_HA=+—HA
-+ -RAA=+—8B"F
ERMBEANEEBERERERE
—FAERBBA - ZRBREHE G
WMEERNFEISENBRT DL E
ERBITERARZERTTIHE -

AEEZTRENGESBA

. EEER

. EEER

. HORAREAAZERES
4% 5 B B3R A R BE (A 52
EQUMAENNKE EZEIHRE
—ERARENS BT AEBEE
% BAKA—EEBHBESH-
TEEERARETMEREERS

MPAMSBEENEE AR D
HMEEMDHABEETE TN

TEBERBEREG FUNAY
BT 57 -
BIBER(KE)EZERERAR ZZB-=ZFFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

7. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

ERENRDIES @

SHMERTRER

AT —AEBIZAIHE D FRA K
o

Other household and
Hair-care products Skin-care products personal care products Total
HitRAR
EEEM EEERERER BAEEER At
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=f -_T-_F ZB-=HE -_ZE-_F ZB-=E -—FT--F ZB-=f —T-C

RMB’000 RMB'000 ~ RMB’000

RVMB'000 = RMB'000 RMB'000 = RMB’000  RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETH ARETR ARETL ARBTR ARETL ARMTRT ARETR

Sales to external customers HERIMBEP 217,684 211,115 25 87 19,944 35,139 237,653 246,341
Segment profit/(loss) PHEF/(HE) 16,871 (12,044) (17) 22) (1,775) (5,994) 15,079 (18,060)
Bank interest income BAFBWA 1,627 1,959
Other income H g A 1,280 1,315
Corporate and other unallocated @ F AR 7 B2 E At

expenses P (4,442) (4,645)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BATRE/ (B8 13,544 (19,431)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned/(loss from) by each
segment without allocation of bank interest income, gain on
sales of scrap materials, government grants, net foreign
exchange gains/(losses), central administrative costs and
directors’ emoluments. This is the measure reported to the
executive directors of the Company for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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EXRBPE T BER @

Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 7.

Other segment information Hth 588 E#H
Other household and
Hair-care products Skin-care products personal care products Total
HttRAR
EEER EREM BAEEER &5t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“S-=f -“T-_F ZB-=f -_FT__F ZB-=fF —ZT__F ZBZ=fF —T-_
RMB’000 RMB’000 = RMB’000 RMB’000 = RMB’000 RMB’000 = RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETR ARKTT ARETR ARKTT AR®TR ARETR
Amounts included in the STEOMERE
measure of segment BitAFRE
results
Additions to property, plant ME BENEE
and equipment bl 2,075 580 - — 190 96 2,265 676
Depreciation of property, plant  #) % - = k& &
and equipment E 7,227 18,778 1 8 662 3,125 7,890 21,911
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 7,995 9,093 1 4 732 1,514 8,728 10,611
Interest on lease liabilities HEBRENE 1,226 1,798 - 1 112 299 1,338 2,008
Loss on disposals of property, EEWM% BE R
plant and equipment B0k S 146 395 - — 13 66 159 461
Gain on lease modification BHREEARZ
Wz - (453) - — - (76) - (529)
Bad debt written off ERRAH 668 1.472 1 1 61 245 730 1,718
Reversal of impairment losses &t & 5 & Ut B X
recognised in respect of BRZBER
trade receivables 18 o] # (1,052) (2,565) - ©] (96) (427) (1,148) (2,993)
Reversal of impairment losses 2] # 4 4 & 22 £
recognised in respect of mE - HE X
property, plant and = B FERER,
equipment ER=ES - (250) = = = (41) = (291)
(Reversal of allowance)/ FEREER),
allowance for inventories BB (126) 9 - - (11) 2 (137) 11
Obsolete inventories written-off #1 Hi 17 & ¥ & 731 1,680 - 1 67 280 798 1,961
Amounts regularly provided EHERHLTE
to the CODM but not BEREEN
included in the measure ©E BFRE
of segment results EROBEE
Wit &
Government grants BT # Bh - = = = = = (436) (168)
Bank interest income RITHEWA - - - = - = (1,627) (1,959)
BIER(EE)EZERERAT —ZE=FF%#
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC (country
of domicile) and Hong Kong.

The geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets.

EXRBFRIHBES @

HERH

AEBREEBETESPREREGR
EER)MES -

EEPWAEHEDBRERINE®

NEEFE- ﬁFxﬁ@JéFE’Ji‘M@uE
DREBEEERAMEMNE(WNEY
¥ BEMEKERFERAEEE) ME

;Eo

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REIBEFHEA FRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EB=-= T ZEB=-= —E--F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®BTR AR¥KTET
The PRC (country of domicile) 1 Bl (FTE B 5X) 233,696 243,239 56,345 71,022
Hong Kong B 2,051 1,136 803 794
Malaysia ERpgdn 775 1,056 - —
Outer Mongolia INER 647 216 — —
Thailand I 484 344 - _
Russia B 28 Hr - 350 - —
Total A5t 237,653 246,341 57,148 71,816
Information about major customers FTEERER
Details of the customer contributing over 10% of total revenue BHAREFRBZBKASEBBEIONHE

of the Group are as follows:

FRERAIRMT

2023 2022
—EC-= s
RMB’000 RMB’OOO
AR®TR ARETT
Customer A’ ZHEA N/A? 26,785
! Revenue from segment of hair-care products. 1 REEEZEEQRDBHUKA -

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of

the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Other Income 8. Hi A
2023 2022
—=E—= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR T T
Bank interest income RIT A B WA 1,627 1,959
Government grants (note a) AT 4 Bh & (Pt 5% (@) 436 168
Gain on sales of scrap materials BB R s 200 569
Gain on waiver of legal cost FEEEREBE WG — 338
Reversal of impairment losses in respect of B AW E - ME L& E
property, plant and equipment BB 18 K = 291
Others (note b) HAth (B 3% (D)) 644 240
2,907 3,565
Notes: k=S
@) Various government grants were granted to the Group in respect of application (@) AEBESERATEEZEHRERTHE

of Chinese herbs in daily products. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies related to receipts of these grants.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group wrote off account
payable of RMB644,000 (2022: RMB204,000), which would be payable to
suppliers as performance bond and are long outstanding, are considered to be
no longer needed and have been recognised as other income.

P& IR AT B o B B R B 1T #O R 1 A0
Hip s LB ARIMNA FRH -

(b) BE-_ZTZ-_=#+-_A=+—RHItFE-
N6 B AR 8 FE N BR TR A R #5644,0007T (=
T —F: AR¥204,0007T) * ZZER
BIEARBHRBS X MGEHEER  BERE
KT WRATBEEZIEHRAH MK
)\e

Finance Costs 9. BiIKEH
2023 2022
f— % - -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 1,338 2,098
FIER(EEERERLAT ZEBE-=FF3§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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10. Income Tax Credit 10. FISHIEK R

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —E--
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
(Restated)
(&E%)
Deferred income tax (note 19) RIE TR IE 83 110
(@  Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “PRC @ WREBEAPBESCEMRESHE(HEZE

EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the PRC EIT
Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January

2008 onwards.

Pursuant to circular issued by Ministry of Finance and
State Taxation Administration on 17 January 2019, the
small-scaled minimal profit enterprise with an annual
taxable income below RMB1,000,000 (RMB1,000,000
included) is entitled to a preferential tax treatment of 75%
exemption of taxable income and application of income
tax rate as 20% from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2021. On 2 April 2021, a circular was issued by Ministry of
Finance and State Taxation Administration, the corporate
income tax was halved on the basis of above preferential
policies and the policies were extended from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2022. On 26 March 2023, a circular
was issued by Ministry of Finance and State Taxation
Administration, the small-scaled minimal profit enterprise
with an annual taxable income below RMB1,000,000 is
entitled to a preferential tax treatment of 25% included in
taxable income and application of income tax rate as 20%
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024. On 2 August
2023, a circular was issued by Ministry of Finance and
State Taxation Administration and the above preferential
policies were further extended to 31 December 2027.
Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group were qualified for
this preferential tax treatment during the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

10. Income Tax Credit (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The PRC EIT Law allows enterprises to apply for the
certificates of “High and New Technology Enterprise”
(“HNTE”) which entitles the qualified companies to a
preferential income tax rate of 15%. Bawang (Guangzhou)
Co., Ltd. (“Bawang Guangzhou”), a PRC subsidiary of the
Group, was qualified as a HNTE since 2009. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, Bawang Guangzhou has no
tax payable on the profit arising in PRC since the
assessable profit is wholly absorbed by tax losses brought
forward.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the
Group did not have any assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

10. Fr 3 B IK & |)

(@)

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

(#8)

FEGEMBRIAAFERS
7B 1= T By b 26 (% 3 Bl
XDEE MESZERHD

EUNZEB1%HBEHRE -
BE(EMARARTHRIE
MDBE-_FTZNFEBERBER
SR EE - BE_T_=
FT+-A=1+—H AN ER
HANBEEZBAEEHABR
i BTERMNEBEPEHE
ERERARE -

BE-_FT-_=Ft-A=1+—
BM-—_ZE-_—&F#+-A=+
—tFE - TEFENEHE
H EBAEASBE_T_=F
+-A=+—HM-_ZT——
T A=+ LtHNEERER
EREMBEREENBFERE
SERLFE o

BEREHESMRBERES
RZEBRRER AEEEEAEB
HE-Z_—Fk=-ZT=-_F
+ZA=+—RALEFEHNF
EHENABERHEENENM
FRIE ©

—ECCFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

10. Income Tax Credit (Continued)

Income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss)
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. Fr 3 B IK & |)

R IZ &

= A 18 25

HRRZIREAE

KMEME A KD
X FEAMNMESHEERT LA

2023 2022
—=E—= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated)
(&%)
Profit/(loss) before taxation RATADE(EiE) 13,544 (19,431)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax 1% ZN il f7 15 B Bl K 25% 5t &
rate of 25% (2022: 25%) WIH(—T— — 4 : 25%) 3,386 (4,857)
Effect of different tax rates of entities REMAINEERELSE ZTFE
operating in other jurisdictions MEZMBHE (3,011) 6,120
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 1~ a] 15 & A 2 Fi 15 5 £
purpose 4,129 1,063
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERRBWAZ RGBT E
purpose (1,747) (3,140)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERATREERB 2R ETE 24 2,427
Income tax on concessionary rate BEBMEMEH (65) (63)
Utilisation of deductible temporary AR AT R R A B
differences not recognised H=E (1,266) (1,550)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AR FEREROB B
recognised =S (1,367) —
Tax effect of deductible temporary DRI EERERNTEINE
differences previously not recognised RMZENBBETE — 110
Income tax credit for the year FEMESHER 83 110
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

11. Profit/(Loss) for the Year

Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging

1. FRFE(FE)

FABESMEBGEA) THIER :

(crediting):
2023 2022
—E=-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%®Tr
Auditor’s remuneration % R B &
— Statutory audit — AE B 939 850
— Other non-audit services — HMIEEFT R 224 162
Cost of inventories recognised as BRERIZEERAK
an expense (note (a)) (Mt (@) 118,072 153,811
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERREITE
equipment 7,890 21,911
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 8,728 10,611
Loss on disposals of property, plant and BEYE BEREZHED
equipment i=EN 159 461
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses bE H &8 (W) (58 (503) 594
Research and development costs HRAERS ZHEKAE
recognised as an expense (note (b)) (P 5% (b)) 12,507 14,123
Bad debt written off ZERFE 8 730 1,718
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for FeEBREz (OB, £
inventories (included in cost of inventories  (BIEEERABRHE
recognised as an expense) FERAH) (137) 11
Obsolete inventories written-off (included in % A7 & R & (B FEE TE R A
cost of inventories recognised as an BERAMNTFENATF)
expense) 798 1,961
Notes: k=S
(a) Cost of inventories recognised as an expense included depreciation of (@) HRBASIZFEXRABEDE BER

property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and staff
costs of approximately RMB7,577,000 (2022: RMB20,068,000),
RMB8,728,000 (2022: RMB10,611,000) and RMB15,368,000 (2022:
RMB18,262,000) respectively. The amounts were also included in the
respective amounts disclosed above or in staff costs in note 12.

(b) Included in research and development expenses was staff costs of
approximately RMB5,687,000 (2022: RMB4,549,000) which has been included
in staff costs in note 12.

BENE TREEENEREBEINAS
BHBANRE7577,000(ZE-—F 4
A K #20,068,0007T) * 49 A K # 8,728,000
T(ZTEZ=F: HH AR%10,611,0007T)
B ANBR 15,368,000 (ZE-—F: 4
AR #18,262,0007T) - LA E & T E 5 5
BEEN EERBHF1288P -

) WEEBAHRBENEIRANARARE
5,687,0007C (=& = — F: AR ¥ 4,549,000
) BEEEELREEMTI2HE TK
Ao

BIER(REEZRERLIF[ —B-=FFRK
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

12.

13.

Staff Costs 12. E B KA
2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT
Staff costs (including directors’ and BEERAN(BREENES
chief executive’s emoluments) comprise: THRAEBNESH2) :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e BRI REF 36,858 46,506
Contributions to retirement benefits sohemes RIKE R G 85K
(note 31) (KF3E31) 3,719 4,033
Termination benefits BHIR 18 A - 4,482
40,577 55,021
Dividends 13. R B

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil), nor has any dividend been

proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: nil). — - m) B2

ﬁi:g::$+—ﬁ_+ B ik
FEVERMSKBREIMKRE (CZZ
= $&H;ﬁF’E]f§ THE?

REMBRE(ZT-_—F &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

14. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share 14. BRER,(FE)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share $ AR AR FIRERN K
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BH/(ER)BEATEETE -

following data:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR® T T
(Restated)
(&%)
Profit/(Loss) B, (ER)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RUEGEAR BB AFE
owners of the Company for the purpose of  fE(E & AR E AN K& # S 518
basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share  #) &5 18 13,627 (19,321)
2023 2022
—E-= —_ZET—-_—
’000 000
T B T %
Number of shares B E B
Weighted average number of ordinary AU EESRER
shares for the purpose of basic earnings/ BN (FEB) B iy
(loss) per share TRREE 3,162,441 3,162,441
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share was the same as the basic AREBEE T _=FM_FT_-_
earnings/(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive F+_A=1+—"HItFEREEE
ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 M ETRARBlR BHER#ES
December 2023 and 2022 or at the end of both reporting BN A(EBR)BEBRERNERN (&
periods. 1B) AR -
BIER(EE)EZERERAT —ZE=FF%#
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

15. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2022:
seven) directors and the chief executive were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Executive directors

ENSEMNASAB(ZEEZ Z F:
+tRB)VEERESTRAEZHME

s

BEFE__=—%+=-RAR=+-—H
1k 5F BE

Independent non-executive directors

UITES FHTES
Mr. CHEN
Mr. CHEN Zheng He
Qiyuan (Chief Mr. WONG Mr. CHEUNG
(Chairman) executive) Sin Yung Kin Wing Dr. WANG Qi Dr. Liu Jing Total
REREE BREBEE
(£E) (HEHIE) BSRAE EEREXL IHEL ERL At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%®TR AR¥Trn AR%Tn AR¥ETR AR%Tn AR¥Tx
(Note (b))
(M5 (o))
Emoluments paid or AARREKE
receivable inrespectof AFMEEFHHE
a person’s services as PR 7 =% 13 5% FE W
a director, whether of HE &
the Company or its
subsidiaries
Fees we - - - 273 182 182 637
Emoluments paid or ARRREKE
receivable in respect of ~ AFMWEERE
director’s other EEHMELR
services in connection BIXNREEH
with the management e
of the affairs of the
Company and its
subsidiaries
Other emoluments Hitpe
Salaries =3 - 138 1,110 - - - 1,248
Discretionary bonus BFEA - - 182 - - - 182
Contributions to retirement iR 4K i& 7
benefits schemes AR - 7 16 - - - 23
Total emoluments AitH$ - 145 1,308 273 182 182 2,090
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15. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

15.EERBRETHRAEMHNS

Emoluments (Continued) (#&)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_ES_—_%£4+_-_HA=+—H
ILEE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HITESF FaiTES
Mr. CHEN Mr. CHEN
Qiyuan ZhengHe  Mr.WONG  Dr. NGAIWai  Mr. CHEUNG
(Chairman)  (Chief executive) Sin Yung Fung KinWing  Dr. WANG Qi Dr. Liu Jing Total
BREREE REBEA
(XE) (BR#IE) HERZLE BREEEL RELE4 IBEL 2Rt At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETRE ARETT AREFT AREFR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(H 5 () (5 (o))
Emoluments paidor &2 T 5 £ K B
receivable in ARMEER
respect of a HRBLMAR
person’s services ERHHE
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its
subsidiaries
Fees we = = = 115 240 185 110 650
Emolumentspaidor XA R HEK B
receivable in AEAMESH
respect of directors  HEEH
other services in EERBXM
connection withthe ~ FHEHMNM &
management of the
affairs of the
Company and its
subsidiaries
Other emoluments Hitpe
Salaries e 28 = 124 1,034 - - - - 1,158
Contributions to RKBFIEE
retirement benefits H3R
schemes - 6 16 - - = = 22
Total emoluments AEiS - 130 1,050 115 240 185 110 1830
Notes: 3T -
(@) Dr. Ngai Wai Fung retired as an independent non-executive director of the (@) REEBEIN_FT-_—_FHEA_+tHE

Company on 27 May 2022.

(b) Dr. Liu Jing is appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 27 May 2022.

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

EBILFRITESE -

EFITRN "S- —_FRA-_++tEKE
ERBLIFERTES -

—ECCFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

15.

16.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Emoluments (Continued)

Discretionary bonus of approximately RMB182,000 (2022: nil)
was provided to Mr. WONG Sin Yung for the year ended 31
December 2023. The discretionary bonus is determined by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to his performance and
the Company’s performance and profitability and the prevailing
market conditions.

Mr. CHEN Zheng He is also the chief executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above included those for
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Neither the chief executive of the Company nor any of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Employees’ Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2022: one) was a Director whose emolument is included in
the disclosures in note 15 above. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2022: four) individuals were as follows:

16.

FE A AREE182,0007T H BY1E 5T
HZIRARHEESREE(ZEZ
TFE) o BIBRTE 2 TEAL
ZEERBEETIERRBRARAAN
EENEFENTIHREBEETE -

REBEEEERRTERERIT
B LB HFHEBREEES
FHTENRBTGME

HE-_ZT-=F+=ZA=+—8H1t
FE AEEEEERHATESEN
EYRERETANHE (=T ==
F4E)o

& & % A

EfisZmHMALY  —LZ(ZF=
—EDREF EFMNRMAL
MIE1GHE -ARAEMERAR(ZF =
“F ) HEA TR E BB

T~

2023 2022

—=== —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTT ARETIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits 4 EELRET 1,706 1,563
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 38 K 1@ K| 5+ 2 4t 2k 334 333
2,040 1,896

Their emoluments were all within nil to HK$1,000,000,
equivalent to approximately RMB911,000 (2022: equivalent to
approximately RMB862,000).

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals (including Directors and employees) or other
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

17. V% BERRE

Office Immature
Land and Leasehold Motor equipment Display Bearer bearer Construction
buildings Machinery improvements vehicles andothers  furniture plants plants in progress Total
T REHE BAE TR
BEY #eE BRXYE EBRIA REREM RREE EEHEN £ENED ERIRE @t
RVMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARMTE ARBTL ARETT ARBTI ARETL ARSTE ARETT ARETR
COST RA
At 1 January 2022 R-B-_—%F
—B—-B 5,494 127,967 201,698 11,560 24,558 932 43 1,641 7,170 381,063
Exchange realignment EHAZR - - - 666 1 - - - - 667
Additions NE — 266 — — 232 — — 178 — 676
Disposals e - (4,720 = 09 (19) = = = = 4,761)
Transfer [EE - 791 - - - - - - (791) -
Write-off RE - - - = = = = = 6,379) 6,379
At 31 December 2022 and 7
1 January 2023
5,494 124,304 201,698 12,204 24,772 932 43 1,819 = 371,266
Exchange realignment - - - 13 - - - - - 13
Additions - 1,499 9 397 270 - - - - 2,265
Disposals = (2,544) = (581) (69) = = = = (3,194)
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F
+-A=+-A 5,494 123,259 201,797 12,133 24,973 932 43 1,819 - 370,450
ACCUMULATED Rt E
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-—F
b Rl 2,802 92,183 184,275 11,200 21,114 852 29 - 6,670 319,125
Exchange realignment ExAE - - - 599 - - - - - 599
Depreciation provided for 4 F 47 & #& &
the year 247 5,067 15,561 99 936 — 1 — — 21,911
Impairment losses EHERERRN
reversed in profit or REBX
loss = = = = = = = = (291) (291)
Eliminated on disposals ! & 4 ¢4 - (4,177 - (20) (17) - - - - (4,214)
Write-off Eili - - - = = = = = (6.379) (6,379)
At 31 December2022and R =T ==
1 January 2023 +-AR
RZ%
-A- 3,049 93,073 199,836 11,878 22,033 852 30 — — 330,751
Exchange realignment ExFHE - - - 102 - - - - - 102
Depreciation provided for ~ F R E# /&
the year 247 5,387 1,341 27 887 - 1 - - 7,890
Eliminated on disposals £ 1 4 44 = 2,289) = (523) (56) = = = = (2,868)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%
+=-A=+-H 3,296 96,171 201,177 11,484 22,864 852 31 - - 335,875
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2023 R-FE-_=%
+=-A=+-H 2,198 27,088 620 649 2,109 80 12 1,819 - 34,575
At 31 December 2022 S 3
+-A=+-A 2,445 31,231 1,862 326 2,739 80 13 1,819 — 40,515
FIER(RE)ERERAR —ZE-=ZFF®
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

LLand and buildings

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

me B mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

17. % - BERKE @

FERERYE  BERRENRK
AeEAALESHAEE(MAE)
% AT BT E AT PR B R B A8 OK
o

Over the shorter of term of the lease or 20 years

T R EEY) H B AT $58 5 204F
Machinery 15 years

28 154

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of term of the lease or 10 years
REHERR X B MHEAR A 104
Motor vehicles 5-8 years

Eg T HE 5-84F

Office equipment and others 5 years
WMAEREBREM 5%

Display furniture 2 years

ETREME 24

Bearer plants 3-25 years
EEMEEY 3-25%F

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress and immature bearer plants until it is substantially
completed and ready for its intended use. Upon completion and
commissioning for operation, depreciation will be provided at
the appropriate rates specified above.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to certain
impaired construction in progresses were completed and have
been used for production, the Directors conducted a review of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment and determined that
reversal of impairment loss of approximately RMB291,000 (2023:
nil) was recognised in respect of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment in which the recoverable amounts were
determined on the basis of their value-in-use amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

18. Leases 18. HE
() Right-of-use assets EHESE

2023 2022

—E-=5F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBEFTT

Buildings BEY

At 1 January R—H—H 31,301 52,211
Depreciation e (8,728) (10,611)
Lease modification HEBKR - (10,299

At 31 December Rt+=—_B=+—H 22,573 31,301

The Group has lease arrangements for buildings. The
lease terms are generally ranged from one to thirty years.
None of the leases include variable lease payments.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into a supplemental lease agreement to amend
the lease terms of the current production premises, office
premises and a staff dormitory (note 32(a)(iii)). The Group
remeasures the existing lease liability of approximately
RMB10,828,000 and a corresponding adjustment of
approximately RMB10,299,000 is made to the right-of-
use assets (2023: nil).

AEBRRZEYHNHELHE -
HEHR — MR B1FE30F -
ELHEHTBRENENEE
B

—Etiﬁ $EIMJﬁﬁ
HEHZHERAEESM-
WA EMREIRS
(FE32(a)ii) M E K FETIE
Ao ASEERBREEHEAR
4 A R #10,828,0007T K 18 fE
FE T H AR 10,299,000 6
RAEEE(ZE==F:8)-

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

18. Leases (Continued) 18. A& @)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HERE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETE

Non-current JERED 15,895 25,103
Current mE 9,208 8,173
25,103 33,276
Amount payable under lease liabilities HEAaEEMAZRE
2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREBTRT ARBTT

Within one year —FR 9,208 8,173
After one year but within two years —F LA EMFLARA 10,307 9,208
After two years but within five years MELERFUR 5,375 15,663
After five years AFUE 213 232
25,103 33,276
Less: amount due for settlement within 3 : 1218 B X fE {7 318
12 months (shown under current GIRRBEREERT)
liabilities) (9,208) (8,173)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A & B Bf 09 FE 1< 5/ 18
12 months 15,895 25,103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. Leases (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Fe B mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

18. & @)

Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) HAE ALK
Amount payable under lease liabilities (Continued) HESBEMRE(E)
2023 2022
—E_=5F —_E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR® T T
At 1 January Rn—H—H 33,276 53,453
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,338 2,098
Lease payment ME R (9,511) (11,447)
Lease modification MEB W = (10,828)
At 31 December R+—-—_HA=+—H 25,103 33,276

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied

was 4.53% (2022: 4.52%).

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

BA®METHIEEE KA X
BA53% (=T = = 4F : 452%) o

(iii) MRREBREZEN

2023 2022
—E=-= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%®Tr
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FTREEENE 8,728 10,611
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaBNBEXH 1,338 2,098
Expenses relating to short-term leases 42 HATH € H 79 & F 126 118
Gain on lease modification (included in T & & 5] 2 Wz (BHER
cost of sales) SHE KA F) = 529
Others (iv)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflow for leases amount to approximately

RMB9,637,000 (2022: RMB11,565,000).

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

BHE_Z2_=F+=-A=+
—BEFEARA HEMNRER
M H A AR 9,637,000
T(ZZE2EZ2F: AR
11,565,000) °

—ECCFEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

19. Deferred Taxation EEFTEH
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax asset, after set RMBHREEN BR—EEZE
off certain deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities of TEREEMSEHREELRREILEMSHEA
the same taxable entity, for financial reporting purposes: BEEHEE BEEREHRABEN ST
LN
2023 2022
—E—= —ZF=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T
(Restate)
(&%)
Deferred tax assets BEMSHEE 379 296
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) UTREITENELEFRSHEE, (B
recognised and movements thereon during the current and 1,\) LEEEFEMUAIFEENES
prior years: CRI
Right-of- Lease
use assets liabilities Total
EREEE HE&®E et

RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB’'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 RZTEZ_—_F—H—H — — —
Adjustments (note 2) FE(H:E2) (7,832) 8,018 186
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 75@ E-_—_F—AF—BE&E%) (7,832) 8,018 186
Credited/(charged) to profit or =3 / (ZH)EF HEsEE

loss 3,137 (8,027) 110

At 31 December 2022 (restated) AR _ZE_-_—_H+_A=+—H

(&%) (4,695) 4,991 296

Credited/(charged) to profit or B8,/ (&02) &5 ExkEia
loss 1,309 (1,226) 83
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE_=F+_A=+—H (3,386) 3,765 379
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

19. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused estimated tax
losses of approximately RMB327,726,000 (2022:
RMB336,840,000) and RMB38,453,000 (2022:
RMB38,309,000) for certain subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong
Kong respectively. The tax losses incurred by the subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC (except for HNTE) will expire in five
years from the year in which the loss originated, while the ones
incurred by the subsidiaries in Hong Kong will not expire under
current tax legislation in Hong Kong. With effective from 1
January 2018, the tax losses incurred by HNTE will expire in ten
years from the year in which the loss originated. No tax losses
have expired during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022. No deferred tax asset had been recognised as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 in respect of the estimated tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has deductible temporary
differences in respect of impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment and trade receivables of approximately
RMB336,487,000 (2022: RMB344,927,000). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

i SE P 13 B (m

= E_=ZF+=-_RA=+— E
AREFBETBEAMMESD I D
Qﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%%
B ANRE327,726,00T(ZF = =
#F: AR #336,840,0007T) F1 A R
38,453,000 t(ZFE - —F: AR
38,309,0007T ) ° £ F B 3% ;N 5T i &9
FRa(EF R EERMN TEE
MMEEL BEFEBEEZABSE
AE®R: MEEBEMAO T RBAT
BAEMBMBEL BEREBERTH
MEER  TgEme- 2T —N
F-—A—HR sHEBEGCEESE
MBEKERSEEELE FRI10F
Wﬂ%oﬁﬁ:?:—iﬂ_?_
—F+-_A=Z+—BLHEFEER-
EEMBRBEBELAE LB - &#HE
T _=FENM-_T-_—_F+=-A= +
*E| EEEC*X%'J/FEJ/RE@TTTE/HH

M HABRELCHRAEENTAMG
BB K -

HEz_E_=%9+-_A=+—8"
AEBAHNBREREZENARE
336,487,000t (ZE==—F : AR¥
344,927,0007T) ° RN K Al BE A FE
5 F) B B FR AR HE 30 AT K 0 A9 B R 14
=2 AREEHEEERERRE
AENEEEEZESR -

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

20. Inventories 20. 78

2023 2022

—=-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Raw materials =R 11,794 12,573
Work-in-progress TR 3,073 3,287
Finished goods RIAK @ 8,973 9,095
Packing materials and consumable goods M REFE M@ 1,991 2,101
25,831 27,056
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories of HEzxz_—_Z2-_=%f+=-8A=+4+—
approximately RMB25,831,000 (2022: 27,056,000), has been A7 f NEESEANARK

21.

net of accumulated allowance of approximately RMB1,102,000
(2022: RMB1,239,000). During the year ended 31 December
2023, obsolete inventories written-off as defected and reversal
of allowance for inventories to their net realisable values of
approximately RMB798,000 (2022: RMB1,961,000) and
RMB137,000 (2022: allowance for inventories of approximately
RMB11,000) were recognised, respectively.

2583100075)\1%“%(*7**@
AR #27,056,00070) © B kK K&
BB BB A R #1,102,0007T ( —
T _—FF: AR®1,239,0007T) °
RZEZ=F+=-A=+—HHF
EAN B TFTERBEERFIERRE
MBEFTHFERRZ 0] 0%
B4 AR 7980007 (20224 : A
R #1,061,0007T )18.78 7t A R ¥
(2022F : ETF AL A ARKEA
BT) D RS EIRA -

Right to Returned Goods Asset BEEY 2R
2023 2022
—E-= T _-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
Right to returned goods asset B &Y 2 #EF 719 737

The right to returned goods asset represents the Group’s right to
recover products from customers where customers exercise their
right of return under the Group’s returns policy. The Group uses its
accumulated historical experience to estimate the number of
returns on a portfolio level using the expected value method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

22. Trade and Other Receivables 22. E5 & H{h fE W FIE
2023 2022
—s=-= —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT
Receivables within the scope of IFRS 15 TR GHREERE 155
at amortised cost comprise: & [E] A /Y FE UK BR B8 £
AR B 3E
Trade receivables B 5 'R 21,504 19,278
Less: allowance for impairment of trade BB S RERFEREEE
receivables (3,849) (4,997)
17,655 14,281
Prepayment for purchase of raw materials  F B R # £ 8 14 3% 8,553 1,864
Other prepayments H b 78 1 I8 1,007 1,402
Bank interest receivables FE UL SR 1T F B 180 1,500
Non-income tax receivables IE BT 15 1 e W 3Kk 175 131
Other receivables E b g We 3k 414 1,036
27,984 20,214

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to
its trade customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates the

AEEBAFTEFIEFPFHUEEHRR
BIENK - U TARZRERR
BEETRARRB BHNEEARH
EVMEKEZEXR(ENKREKE

respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the reporting SRFUBERE) IR DT -
period.
2023 2022
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTF T
Less than 3 months LRA31ME A 17,452 14,281
More than 3 months but less than 6 months % 7 3 1@ A 18 L A6 {E A 193 —
More than 6 months but less than Zef@AB D121 A
12 months 6 —
More than 12 months Z 1218 A 4 =
17,655 14,281
FIER(EEERERLAT ZEBE-=FF3§
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SR BHKRMEE (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

22. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

2. BEFRE

i P& UK FX 18 ()

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at REBFENE S B RIABKH
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables HZEAERNFTHETEREEE K-
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past FEWE SGERNBHEERBLXFEH

default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtors’
current financial positions, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operated and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

As the trade receivables related to a number of customers with
common risk characteristics and the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s difference customer bases.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables based

BREEREY2ZEBANBEER
fC i MBS A H) B AT B AR o
MELE  AREBANEER
ES T%%%A%&%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%‘%ﬁi&

EEARERREBHNERBER
&;TEEX’ ST BlJE‘JE”HHT’Eﬁ%J%% °

R & P B EW&?‘??%EET’E
HOWEARRTERBHRE -

HRRXZEREER S RZEAEER
REREHENERP BEAEEMNE
S EERRERYARATIREP
HENBERRAGTERZEEZR &
RBEBRRENBREERAE
—SEIEBENTREPE -

AEBERBEEFPOHEBREK LE

on past due status of customers collectively that are not T TEENE FHEWMNIE B2
individually significant as follows: FRBEHREEBLANAT
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ-=%+=ZH=+—H loss rate amount allowance
hnREE1g REEE
B LR mE REEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
Botk AR¥Tr AR®Tx
Less than 3 months L R3EA 0.25% 17,687 44
More than 3 months but less % 31E A 18 L W 61# A
than 6 months 23.50% 9 2
More than 6 months but less % 7 61& B 18 4 712 A
than 12 months 76.07% 19 14
More than 12 months Z N 121E A 100% 3,789 3,789
21,504 3,849

150 BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma B R R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

22. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 22. B 5 K H{h FE U FIE @)
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H loss rate amount allowance

mHEFY  REEE
BHE AR mE REEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
Bolk ARBTT ARBTET

Less than 3 months yiye] 0.72% 14,385 104
More than 3 months but less ~ Z A 31{E A 18 4 6@ A

than 6 months 100% 692 692
More than 6 months but less ~ Z A 61{E A 18 4 W 121@ A

than 12 months 100% 100 100
More than 12 months %1218 A 100% 4,101 4,101

19,278 4,997

Generally, trade receivables are written-off if there is information — R WMEBEEBALNE ﬁ% }\
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and AR EKLER H N E &/ R
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. During the year ended THE HT féf SEWEREARE® %& E
31 December 2023, approximately RMB730,000 (2022: H- RN ZE_=F+=-_A=+—H

RMB1,718,000) was being written off.

IEEER - 4 ARE730,000T &
SEREREFHE(ZCE_—F: A
E#1,718,0007T) °

The movements in the allowance for impairment of trade E%}EH& L IB BBk B ER

receivables are set out below:

BT

2023 2022
—E_= = —

RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTRE AR®BTRT

At 1 January n—HA—H 4,997 7,990

Reversal of impairment loss recognised BB K (M 5E@)

(note (a)) (1,148) (2,993)
At 31 December W+=—_A=+—H 3,849 4,997
Note: M EE -

() The Group writes off trade receivables where there is information indicating that (a) MEEEERE EEGHMBEE S EKE
the debtor is in serve financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of REBAGFECEMHBRZE R KEAIR
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has Eﬁfi BlanEB AR SRR EARE
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs earlier. BFEUREEALE)

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

23. Time Deposit/Bank Balances and Cash 3. EHER/BRITEFRRAS

() Time deposit

(i) EHER
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TE

Non-current FE T B
— Time deposit with original maturity — BB —F
over one year TEATFER 30,000 50,000
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents (i) HAERBEEED
2023 2022
—E-= B —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRE AR®T
Bank balances and cash RITEFEERS 88,272 74,404

As at 31 December 2023, cash at bank carries interest at R_EBE_=Z=F+_A=+—
floating rates based on daily bank deposits rates ranged H $R1THRESESHABLITER
from 0.001% to 1.9% (2022: 0.001% to 0.63%) per )| E FZ&0.001%E1.9% (=

annum and time deposit carry interest at fixed rate of 2.15% T = = % :0.001% Z0.63%)
per annum (2022: 3.0% per annum) with original maturity SFFTENE TEHEREETE 7T|J

of 2 years (2022: 3 years).

REPFH215%(ZE ==
3.0%) B —F(ZF ==
FEi=fF)
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

24. Trade and Other Payables 24. EZ RHEMBENSRE

2023 2022

—s=-= —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT
Trade payables =) AN 19,078 35,710
Promotion fee payables ENEEER 9,218 10,091
Accrued payroll ENITE 3,651 1,897
Non-income tax payables FEFTIS T ME 1 3K 2,195 3,979
Other payables and accruals HtENRERERER 25,269 27,963
59,411 79,640
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented BEZRZAH 2 HE22E FEN

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HIENERBARZER IO :
2023 2022

—s=-= -T2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TR AR%®FTr
Within 1 month 1& B Rk iz 23k 10,525 21,451
After 1 month but within 3 months 1EABERIEANRN 8,553 14,259
19,078 35,710

The average credit period on purchases is 30 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

MEE -

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

HEEEATHEERNNI0ED
B-AEEERENTBRERE R
REREMARNAEEEEDR

—ECC-FFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

25.

26.

27.

Contract Liabilities 25. pRIEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E2-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARET T
Advances received to deliver goods BELEYEKE 5,225 4,261
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZT-_=F+=-RA=+— Ei
that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023 RS EBEE TEHIEZ
is RMB4,261,000 (2022: RMB11,233,000). There was no T —E—-A—-—HHALAE {TAE%

revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

4,261,0007z(_%ﬁ::¢: AR
11,233,0007C) - E B F —F EE
THRTESEBENEERELRTF
BRI A -

Refund Liabilities 26. HEZAE

2023 2022

—E-= —_==_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT
Refund liabilities BEAE 1,092 1,030
The refund liabilities relate to customers’ right to return products BRHREASPREREEE=@A%
within three months of purchase. At the point of sale, a refund BREEE -FHEY  AstemE
liability and a corresponding adjustment to revenue is EMEMEAERERREME  WEK
recognised for those products expected to be returned. The AERHEFAZE - ZEBFBEE

Group uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate
the number of returns on a portfolio level using the expected
value method.

Bank Loan Facilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no available unutilised
bank loan facilities. (2022: RMB500,000,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. Share Capital and Reserves

(a)

(b)

|A.|
i

SR BRRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

28. RA R ##HE

Share capital (a) Bg=
Number of
shares
R4 & E
000 RMB’000
T % AR®T T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BB L0102 T B
Authorised: AT E B
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, W-Z_-_—_F—H—H"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —Z& — — 4 —I— A
=+—H ' ZE==F
—A—RAKkZZT=-=%F
+ZA=+—H 10,000,000 880,500
Issued and fully paid: BEBETRCHNZERR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-_E_—_F—H—H"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —ZE - _—%+ _ A
=+—B ZTZ=F
—A—RAKk=ZZT=_=%F
+ZA=+—H 3,162,441 277,932

Nature and purpose of reserves

() Share premium

(b) fETRMEHE R AE

The application of the share premium account of the
Company is governed by the Companies Act (Revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The funds in the share
premium are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

U]

B & i@ |

RAT R G EDNERZ
MeElERaNEEERT)
e BRIFEBEZRIR
(NN NS R EE - SN/
BRENEEREXBHE
HImER  SRAARFD
FAEBRANRERBKRDIK

% B o

—ECCFEER

155



156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

28. Share Capital and Reserves (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves are established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the PRC subsidiary of the
Group, Bawang Guangzhou. Transfers to the
reserves are approved by the directors of Bawang
Guangzhou.

Bawang Guangzhou, which is wholly foreign owned
enterprise established in the PRC, is required to
transfer at least 10% of its net profit (after offsetting
prior year losses), as determined under the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory general
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital under the PRC Company Law and
the articles of association of the entity. The transfer
to this reserve must be made before distribution of
dividends to the equity shareholder.

Statutory general reserve can be used to make good
prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to equity
shareholders proportionate to their existing
percentage of equity interests provided that the
balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

28. Share Capital and Reserves (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ili) Merger reserve

(iv)

(v)

On 20 December 2007, Bawang International Group
Holding (HK) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, acquired all the equity interest of
Bawang Guangzhou amounting to USD12,500,000,
which was previously held by a company owned by
the controlling shareholders of the Group, at a
consideration of the same amount. Accordingly, the
share capital of Bawang Guangzhou was eliminated
and a merger reserve arose due to foreign exchange
differences.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the operations outside the PRC into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB).

Other reserve

The other reserve represents the deemed
contribution by the controlling shareholders in the
form of non-interest bearing loans to a subsidiary.
The amounts are estimated by discounting the
nominal value of the non-interest bearing loans to
the subsidiary at an effective interest rate.

28. I A K @ # @)

(b) {3 o 1 B8 B F & (4)
(iii) & ff & 0

(iv)

(v)

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

RZEBEZELF+-_A=-+
B AQRRZ2EKBERG
FIBRREEER(FE)
ER QR LAREEK UK E
% J£12,500,00000 | F &
M 2 EBAE = (2 AT B3 A%
BEREAEN —KRQAF
F) BT EMH K
AW WHERFAE R
EBMELAHER-

B R % 0

EXFRHERBREREER
SN 2 B R R (BDA
RE)FMEENZAER
EH -

H i % 0

H b f# B R AR I B R B
BRHBARNERER
PIEEZBRIEE - %H
BEHAERMNERTRNE
RTRAZREERNK
EEERMGE -

—ECCFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SR BHKRMEE (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

29. Equity-Settled Share-Based Transactions

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company on 29
May 2020, the Company adopted a 2020 share option scheme
(the “2020 Share Option Scheme”) to attract and retain the best
available personnel to provide additional incentive to (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, business or joint venture partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an interest or a subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”); or (ii)
the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, business or joint venture partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (i) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, business or joint
venture partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Option granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors or any of
their respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include substantial shareholders,
independent non-executive directors, or any of their respective
associates) in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5
million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

No share options were granted under the 2020 Share Option
Scheme since the adoption. As at 31 December 2023, there
was no outstanding options granted under the 2020 Share
Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

30. Statement of Financial Position of the 30. &2 T B AR R &R
Company
2023 2022
:E:E = _
Notes RMB’000 RMB’OOO

i ARBTRT ARETE

Non-current asset ERBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RIEETHIE AR
=& —* —*
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables H b E = 110 136
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU B B A Al kI8 (a) 145 146
Bank balances and cash RITEGFT RS 1,781 649
2,036 931
Current liabilities EIAE
Other payables H\ fth & 1< SR IE 1,256 1,167
Amount due to a subsidiary FET MY B A Bl IE (a) 2,996 2,865
4,252 4,032
Net current liabilities FERBAE (2,216) (3,101)
Net liabilities FEE (2,216) (3,101)
Capital and reserves BEAR K
Share capital A& A 277,932 277,932
Reserves & (o) (280,148) (281,033)
Deficiency of equity Ea e (2,216) (3,101)

Less than RMB1,000
Notes:

(@) The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Directors have
performed an impairment assessment based on the expected credit loss
model. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of amounts due from
subsidiaries was approximately RMB145,000 (2022: RMB146,000), net of
accumulated allowance for impairment loss of approximately
RMB1,595,987,000 (2022: RMB1,583,362,000).

* ZefEERAR1,0007T -

@ EREEEN RERALRBEREE -BE

TR =R ZF+ A=+
BIESE ZFEEMREEHEEBAESR
ETTRETIFH BE-_T-_=ZF+=
A=+—HBL ERMNBARKEE B
HEBARME145000T(ZTZZ2F: AR
#146,0007T) * MR 2 HEEEBEHAR
#1505987,000(—TE=-—F: AR¥
1,583,362,0007T) °

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

30. Statement of Financial Position of the 30. & 7 B & AR R 3T ()
Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued) BiaE : ()
(b) Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows: (b) REFRNEBHBERAT
Share Translation Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BAHRE EREE g FRc
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF T ARETTT AR¥ETTT ARBEF T
(note 28(b)) (note 28(b))
(P 3£ 28(b)) (Fff 3% 28(b))
At 1 January 2022 W-—E-——%#—F—~” 1,401,815 (109,738) (1,571,432) (279,355)
Total comprehensive expense N2 HE  H
for the year = = (1,219) (459) (1,678)
At 31 December 2022 and R-_ZTE-_—_F+_-H
1 January 2023 =t+—Ak
—E-=—F#—H—A 1,401,815 (110,957) (1,571,891) (281,033)
Total comprehensive income/  ERZ2E A, (ZH)
(expense) for the year 1 EE — 1,363 (478) 885
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=%F
+-B=+-8 1,401,815 (109,594) (1,572,369) (280,148)

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Fe B mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

31. Retirement Benefit Scheme Contributions

(a)

(b)

The PRC

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”)
organised by the local authority whereby the PRC
subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the
Scheme based on certain percentages of the eligible
employee’s salaries. The local government authority is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
the retired employees.

Hong Kong

The Group also maintains the MPF Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong in accordance with
the requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and related regulations. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, of
which the contribution was matched by employees and
subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Group has no other obligations for payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of employees other than the
contribution described above. Forfeited contributions in respect
of unvested benefits of employees leaving the Group’s
employment cannot be used to reduce ongoing contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
RMBS3,719,000 (2022: RMB4,033,000) represents contributions
payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the plans.

31. R K8 R 82 K

(a)

(b)

hE KRN E

RETEBELEHER PE
MEBARZ2EMPEBERE
BT #4844 2 E R FUR IR
1& M 5T &8 (Tax sT &11) - B R
BRAAIAKERIEZ—FAES
Lo 17 &% 5t 8 5K - B 1 BT
BEREXNERRKEEN RS
BIRE -

FEHME

REBEBRBMERBEEREE([RIE
P8 BB IRG RARE
AEENSHAENAKRENE
BREERIBREEFE -8R
RIS CEERAEHAME
ENH BAXTEAENZES
FE - AKERBEBIEZ25%
At EIHR - BREENOHRK
ERASEAET1,500 °

AREEBRT RS WEE
fESES N RKREMENR
BEM EEMBEOAREBES
EHRHERRERAA BIER DR
BHER-

BERaRP2BRAIHARE
3719000 t(— T - —F: AR
4,033,0007T) ' IR Bz E 5T 2
FIEN—TEBED LB ZHK-

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

—ECCFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

32. Related Party Transactions NR.BHERS
(a) Related party transactions (@A) RBAEXS
The Group had the following material transactions with its AEEEEREEALTETAT
related parties: ERRG:
2023 2022
—E-= -

Nature of transaction

REMHE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARETTT

Guangzhou Bawang Cosmetics Co., Ltd. Rental fee of production plant

(“Guangzhou Bawang”) (note i) and office premises
(notes ii and iii) 9,456 11,417
BMBEMBERRAF A EE TR BB AN 3% A 35 FT Y
(TEMEE ) (BT 7ED) 8 & (Bt FEii i)
Notes: M aE -

0] Guangzhou Bawang was ultimately 100% owned by Mr. CHEN Zheng 0]
He.

(ii) The Directors are of the opinion that the above transactions were (ii)
conducted on normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of
business and the basis of consideration for the transactions is the
prevailing market price.

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILFE

32. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

On 17 November 2020, Bawang Guangzhou and Guangzhou Bawang
entered into a new lease agreement with 1 year of lease from 1
December 2020. The monthly rental fee for the production premises,
office premises and a staff dormitory are RMB1,040,000 in total. On 23
April 2021, the lease agreement was renewed with monthly rental fees
of approximately RMB1,090,000 from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 and
approximately RMB1,240,000 from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026. On 1
September 2022, a supplemental lease agreement reduced the leased
area from 49,928.17 sq.m. to 37,997.70 sq.m., and the monthly rental
fees to approximately RMB830,000 from 1 September 2022 to 30 June
2024 and approximately RMB944,000 from 1 July 2024 to 30 June
2026. Details of which were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated on 17 November 2020, 23 April 2021 and 1 September 2022
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of such lease liabilities is
approximately RMB24,806,000 (2022: RMB32,964,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has made lease payment of
approximately RMB9,456,000 (2022: RMB11,417,000) to the related
company.

2. AL RS @)

(a) RS X 5 (&)
B« ()

(iii)

BIER(RE)ZRERLT

R-ZZE=_TF+—A++tB B
ENEENFEFRET —MHREE
WE PABANIBIEEA-Z
—EE+-_A—BAMBAHR—F
WA ERZE BESOBARYE
1,040,0007C c R=Z T = — 44 f =
T8 BIBMMNENGIESH
THEWHE A-S=-_—4F+A—
AE=-ZT-mWFEXA=+HHHED
SERE HABMUREIRS
# AMEES A/ AR 1,090,000
T REZZE-_NMFELA—BEZ=
ToRFANAZTRHEASEM
ZAMEBAEF ARY1,240,0007T °
RZZEZZFNLAR—B BEEM
HEMNBIZEET HHAMEE
fp sk - BEIR7E T & M HE 1 49,928.17
5 KR 4 B37,997.70F 75 K -
FHR€B=-Z=-__fNLA—HBZ
—E-MENA=ZTHBABHOARE
830,000T BT =-—MFtA—H
EZT_XENAZTHEROA
AE%94400071 bdﬁﬁﬁ#\"‘
B # SR AR D TFE+—
A+t8: :g:*iwﬁ +A
FZZE-_—_FhAhA-BHRE

777

RZFE_=F+ZA=+—81t
EEHEAENEEBENAAR
24806000 (ZE-—F: AR
#32,064,00070) c BHE T - = 4F
+TZAZT—ALFEE £ECRA
AR AT T 4 A R #9,456,000
THES(ZZ=Z=ZF: ARK
11,417,0007T) °

—ECCFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

32. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group during the year was as follows:

32.

BB A RS @

(b) EEEE AR HM

AEERFATEEEARN
&

2023 2022
—E-= N

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TET

Short-term benefits SRR 3,484 3,157
Post-employment benefits BB RET 442 369
3,926 3,526

The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group was determined by the board of Directors, in
consultation with the remuneration committee, having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

33. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

33.

AEBTZEBABZHRMA
EEHATHEZE @R mEME
ARBEEMEBEETH -

METHEENEBYHER

TRALAEEXREMEZSHN
BEEY BERASMIRENE
P-METHELANEBBRAESR
EXARKATREFEFRSRENR
EXTOESBEADEAETREN
BE-

Non-cash

changes

FHEE

Finance
1 January Financing costs 31 December
2023 cash flows incurred 2023
ZEZZ=H e EREN et
—A—H BeRg MEREX +t=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®BTR ARBTR
Lease liabilities ME&RE 33,276 (9,511) 1,338 25,103

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 B Z —Z - =F+-_A=+—HIEFE

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities (Continued)

WHETHELENEBYHRK

(/)

Non-cash changes

FREE
Finance Lease

1 January Financing costs modification 31 December
2022 cash flows incurred (note 18) 2022

—T__F mE BEEEN MEEH —Eg-C
—A—H Beng RBEKK (FfFsx18) +=A=+—~H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TIT AR®ETR ARBTF T
Lease liabilities HEARE 53,453 (11,447) 2,098 (10,828) 33,276

Litigation

In prior years, a lawsuit was filed by a former subcontractor
against Bawang (China) Beverage Co., Limited (“Bawang
Beverage”) in People’s Court of Songjiang District of Shanghai
in respect of a dispute in the material processing contract
between the former subcontractor and Bawang Beverage.

On 20 June 2014, Shanghai No. 1 Intermediate People’s Court
gave its final ruling that Bawang Beverage was liable to the
former subcontractor for an amount of approximately
RMB643,000 and a legal cost of approximately RMB19,000.
Accordingly, provision for litigation in amount of approximately
RMB662,000 was recognised in the profit or loss and an
amount of approximately RMB324,000 was settled in 2014.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remaining
provision of approximately RMB338,000 (2023: nil) had been
waived as Bawang Beverage was deregistered on 30
September 2022.

34. EEFER

R —RADHEE LERIE
AEERBHA S HE R B E (o
B) AR AR ((BE R 2/
BRI A AR M B T KR 12
A -

FPBE—"FRARZERERZ-_F —
MERNAZTHEERKE - B
THHERAMSEBAINOAR
¥ 643,000t M BEE S MO AR
19,0007T K FF FA B o b S0 FF FA BT
AT AR 662,000 E K R
RxcBEBakEtz2EKERY A
HEmmBRH 9 ARK3240005TE FE
HE_ZT-—NFE+-_A=+—81
FEANERB R_ZE-__F+=A
=+t—HBLMNFER BREL
KR T FNAA=THHEZ
S EE R T &R A 49 A R #338,0007T
(ZEZ=F B)NTIREERR -

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 BlZ —Z—_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

35. Principal Subsidiaries

35. FTEH B QA

|

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December RZEBE_=FK_FT__F+_H
2023 and 2022 are as follows: =+—HB ARRTEMBRAF
BT :
Place of
incorporation/
establishment  Issued and paid-up/  Proportion ownership interest and
Name and operation registered capital voting power held by the Company  Principal activities
e ARERAENERR
MIUREEE BRTRARER BENREELH TEREH
2023 2022
—E-=f —E2-C
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
HiE 8 & BE#% il
% % % %
Bawang International Group Holding Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding and trading of
(HK) Limited household and personal care
products
BIEREEER(FE) 0 BT REERLEHXAREAZR
BRAA Em
Hong Kong Bawang International Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Trading of household and personal
Trading Limited care products
EEBIERESD £ oyl EHFARBEAEEER
Bawang Guangzhou (note (a)) The PRC USD67,500,000 - 100 = 100 Manufacturing and trading of
household and personal care
products
EEEM (@) hE % 7£67,500,000 BERERXAREAERER
Guangzhou Fanmei Electronic The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 = 100 e-Commerce and trading of
Business Company Limited household and personal care
(note (a)) products
BMNRBEFHBEERAF FE AR #1,000,0007T EFABREEKAR
(B 3% (a)) BAEREM
Guangzhou Bawang Trading The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 — 100 Trading of household and personal
Company Limited* (note (a)) care products
BMNBEEESERLA i AR #1,000,0007T EHFARBEAEEER
(35t (@)
* For identification purposes only * & #2281
Notes: Bt -
(a) These entities are wholly foreign owned and limited liability companies (@) EE ‘gff;éjgf\nzp Elp v N =8 X =h:0]

established in the PRC.

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 BiZ —Z - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

35. Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of both years or at any time during the years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
wholly-owned subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A
summary of these subsidiaries are as follows:

35. T EME 2 7 @)

FREJIHEARAEEFARTIER
EXNEEXELEEMBBEZHE
RAl-ARAEETRRREHEMN
BRAlzHBE<ERBRILEM
THERFIR ©

REFRE-—FEHA HELCH
o 18 X R B AT B AR AT o

REBHRR RAIHEAEMLREE
MEFRBEANEZENBRR - &ZF
MEARZEZXBMANT

Number of subsidiaries

BN RHE
Principal activities Principal place of business 2023 2022
FTEX® FTEXBHE === —E-_—
Investment holding The BVI 1 1
REER RERKES
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
REZER o

FIER(REEZERERLA[ —F-=FFK
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Five Years Summary

LEBME

As at 31 December 2023 R=—Z==F+=-HA=+—H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —-—ZT-— T ZT-EE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETIT AR®TT ARBTT ARETR
(Restated)
(27)
Result 4
Revenue EES 237,653 246,341 273,604 275,987 258,158
Profit/(loss) before taxation & B 78,/ (&5 18) 13,544 (19,431) (9,084) (4,038) (15,164)
Taxation fH18 83 110 — — 9,064
Profit/(loss) for the year ZN/NSIEZZ =N
attributable to the owners ~ fE{E 2 E R
of the Company FIE/(E18) 13,627 (19,321) (9,084) (4,038) (6,100)
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Property, plant and mE - BE R
equipment B 34,575 40,515 61,938 78,699 98,305
Prepaid advertising fee BNEELEER 148 654 850 33 —
Net current assets B EEFE 67,870 29,307 25,022 65,499 53,732
Total assets less current BEEBEBERLY
liabilities 8E 155,397 151,419 189,171 155,051 182,426
Net assets EEFE 139,502 126,316 145,855 154,726 158,660
Capital and reserves ERKHE
Share capital P 7K 277,932 277,932 277,932 277,932 277,932
Reserves B (138,430) (151,616) (132,077) (123,206) (119,272)
Total equity ERBE 139,502 126,316 145,855 154,726 158,660
Earning/(loss) per share BEF,(E18)
Basic and diluted (RMB) BEXREE
(AR 0.4309 (0.6110) (0.0029) (0.0013) (0.0019)

BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited Annual Report 2023
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